
Annual 
Report

2020



In memory

One of Sundale’s founding fathers, Sir Clem Renouf AM passed away in 
June. He was 99 years of age.

Sir Clem was a truly remarkable man whose list of extraordinary 
achievements reveal a life of generosity, compassion and vision.

Born in Ingham, Sir Clem enlisted for service in the Royal Australian  
Air Force shortly after the outbreak of WW2 and served for 5.5 years  
as a bomber pilot and flying instructor.

After WW2, Sir Clem set up his accounting practice in Nambour and 
practised for 27 years.

Sir Clem’s contribution to Sundale cannot be understated.

In 1961, along with J.D. Grimes and Roy Charlton, Sir Clem helped fund the 
purchase of an almost 18-acre site by Doolan and Carter Roads, which is 
now home to Nambour Garden Village.

History repeated itself 22 years later when Sir Clem and some of his friends 
played a pivotal role securing 15 acres of land neighbouring Windsor Rd, 
which is now home to Rotary Garden Village.

Sir Clem was a foundation Board Member of Sundale, the organisation’s 
Treasurer between 1964-87 and Patron between 2000-2013.

A lifelong Rotarian, Sir Clem was also the President of Rotary International 
(1978-79) and played an instrumental role in the Global Polio Eradication 
Initiative, which has reduced polio cases by 99.9 per cent since 1979.

Sir Clem was also a Treasurer and Chairman of the Board of Governors of 
International House at the University of Queensland, a Member of Legacy for 
approximately 15 years, a Chairman and Treasurer of Lifeline Sunshine Coast 
and a former Trustee of the National Seniors Foundation.

In 1979 Sir Clem was made a Member of the Order of Australia (AM) and 
knighted in 1988 for services to the community.

In 2008, Sir Clem established the Renouf Family Scholarships, for high 
achieving undergraduate students at the University of the Sunshine Coast 
in memory of his parents for their sacrifice in giving him the best education 
possible, under challenging circumstances.

Clem is survived by his wife Lady Firth and his two children, Noel and Judy.

Thank you, Sir Clem, for your vision and the legacy you leave behind.
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Sundale empowers its residents and care recipients to live the life 
they choose, within a caring and supportive community.

Sundale offers a range of stimulating and engaging lifestyle 
activities and services including continuum of care at its 
Retirement Communities and Care Centres.

If you’re happy and feel supported in a community, the last thing 
you want is to move when your needs change.

Sundale can provide additional care, meals and assistance in your 
home, if and when you need it.

All of Sundale’s services focus on providing comprehensive 
high-quality care, underpinned by dignity, choice and the desire to 
maximise its residents and care recipients’ independence.

GROWTH IN CASH

PROFIT (INVESTMENT PROPERTIES)

AWARDED TO NINE TEAM MEMBERS 
(SUNDALE SCHOLARSHIP FUND);

INCREASE IN RETIREMENT 
COMMUNITY OCCUPANCY 
RATES

NET CURRENT 
ASSETS INCREASED 
BY ALMOST $4M

IDENTIFICATION OF  
40 CURRENT AND 
EMERGING LEADERS

CREATION OF SUNDALE 
BEHAVIOUR CODE

$1.57m

$165k

$67k
40

Sundale has been part of the Sunshine Coast community since 
1963 and is extremely proud of its heritage and strong foundations.

Sundale will always honour its past, but is focused in a new, 
modern future so it can cater to the evolving needs of the 
community for decades to come.

To make this vision a reality, Sundale will continue to be agile and 
explore retirement and lifestyle options through the prism of future 
needs, including technology and amenity.

Sundale is committed to being there for its residents and care 
recipients when they need us and is focused on developing 
innovative service models which create meaningful communities.

Sundale’s values underpin its purpose and reflect the standard  
of care you can expect at Sundale.

Sundale is committed to:

ACCOUNTABILITY  
Sundale takes responsibility for the trust you place in us.

DIGNITY, RESPECT AND CHOICE  
Sundale understands that you and your family, friends and health 
professionals are the best people to help you make decisions.

Sundale will spend time getting to know, to better understand  
what matters most. 

MAKE A DIFFERENCE  
Sundale strives to make a difference in people’s lives every  
single day.

PurposeHighlights

Vision

Values
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Sundale’s purpose is to empower its  
care recipients and residents to live the 
life they choose, within a caring and 
supportive community.

Despite the dual challenges of the Royal 
Commission into Aged Care Quality and 
Safety and COVID-19, I’m extremely proud 
to report Sundale is achieving its purpose.

Thanks to excellent management and 
staff, considered planning and strategic 
investment, Sundale is in a very strong 
position, despite the enormous challenges 
facing the sector.

The Board’s business continuity planning has provided 
a clear pathway over the past year and has helped the 
organisation protect the health and wellbeing of its care 
recipients, residents and team members and minimised 
the threat of COVID-19 entering a Care Centre or 
Retirement Community or affecting our In-Home Care 
services.

Inspired by the legacy of Sundale’s founding fathers, 
including Sir Clem Renouf who sadly passed away in 
June, the Board has made a number of strategic and 
considered financial decisions in the past year, which 
are designed to deliver financial certainty for decades to 
come.

The decision to engage external experts to assist with 
long-term modelling and financial planning also reflects 
the growing sophistication of the business.

At a time when many organisations, including a host of 
aged care providers are struggling financially, Sundale 
has maintained its positive cash flow and strong 
balance sheet.

Our evidence-based approach and the decision to delay 
the re-developments at Nambour Garden Village and 
Bella Noosa in Tewantin means Sundale is in a stronger 
position.

Delayed for reasons of objectivity, it is clear the original 
plans for Doolan Street and Tewantin lacked vision and 
needed changing. 

Sundale’s strategic approach to re-evaluate the 
developments was also endorsed by the Royal 
Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety who 
want providers to build innovative, inspired facilities that 
will meet the needs of the community for decades to 
come.

A scathing Interim Report, released by the Royal 
Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety earlier 
this year labelled the industry a “sad and shocking 
system” that “diminishes Australia as a nation”. There is 
no dispute the assessment of the sector is confronting, 
however, it makes the Board even more determined to 
be a catalyst of change.

It’s essential older Australians can access exceptional 
services, not just today, but into the future.

That’s why I’m particularly proud of the proactive steps 
Sundale has recently taken to further future proof the 
organisation against a raft of challenges, both expected 
and unknown.

A focus on future-modelling, client and staff surveys and 
significant investments in technology means Sundale 
has become a more agile and responsive business. We 
are perfectly positioned to deliver exceptional care and 
stimulating and engaging activities in our Care Centres, 
vibrant, community focused lifestyle options at our 
Retirement Communities and outstanding support via 
our dedicated In-Home Care division.

I would like to thank Sundale CEO Danielle Mackenzie 
and her Executive Leadership Team for their vision, 
passion and resilience this past year. Sundale is a 
stronger, kinder and smarter organisation because of 
your leadership and unwillingness to accept just being 
good when we can be excellent.

On behalf of the Board I would also like to thank every 
single team member for their work, commitment and 
dedication to Sundale’s care recipients and residents.

On a personal note, I would like to thank my fellow 
Board Directors for their contribution and dedication 
throughout the past year, especially Deputy Chairperson, 
Troy Wainwright for his guidance and support.

Welcome also to Ian Hall, Steve Telburn and Sonja 
Walters, who joined the Board in the past year 
and brought a new perspective and energy to the 
organisation.

Thank you also to Peter Clark and Swain Roberts who 
both stood down after many years of loyal service to 
Sundale as Board Directors.

Finally, I look forward to strengthening our partnerships 
with key community organisations in the coming year, 
particularly the Sundale Community Foundation.

There’s no doubt the aged care sector is undergoing 
significant change, however, I’m confident the strategic 
decisions the Board has made in the past year will 
deliver a prosperous future, benefiting team members, 
care recipients, residents and the wider communities we 
serve for decades to come.

We’re definitely maturing as an organisation at Sundale 
and building something remarkable.

John Woodward 
board chairperson

Chairperson’s
Report
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CEO’s
Report Sundale’s vision – a new, modern 

future which can cater to the evolving 
needs of the community for decades 
to come, moved a step closer in the 
past year.
Underpinned by Sundale’s five-year Strategic Plan, 
the organisation continued to explore retirement and 
lifestyle options through the prism of future needs, 
including technology and amenity.

It’s no secret the sector is under enormous financial 
pressure, with costs rising at a much faster rate than 
annual increases in government subsidies.

Despite recording a comprehensive loss of $9.75m for 
the year, which reflects Sundale’s considered planning 
for the future, the organisation continues to have a 
strong balance sheet and has maintained its positive 
cash flow by recording an actual increase in cash of 
$1.57m in the past year.

Supported by insight from internal and external 
industry experts, Sundale’s considered decision to 
delay the re-developments in Nambour and Tewantin 
means it is in a stronger position to service the specific 
needs of the community for decades to come. 

Independent modelling revealed the original plans  
for Doolan Street and McKinnon Drive threatened  
the long-term viability of the organisation and  
hindered Sundale’s vision.

Pleasingly, the decision to pause and re-evaluate the 
planned developments at Nambour Garden Village 
and Bella Noosa were also endorsed by the Royal 
Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety who 
want providers to build pioneering, inspired facilities 
not dull, one-dimensional buildings.

In the past year, Sundale undertook extensive  
research to better understand the local community 
and discovered the Sunshine Coast region has an 
aging population and a strong need for specialist 
dementia facilities.

To create a viable, clear and exciting roadmap for 
Nambour Garden Village, Sundale engaged world 
leading experts to develop a Concept and Business 
Plan for a Seniors Living Dementia Friendly Village  
at Doolan Street.

Currently under consideration, the Seniors Living 
Dementia Friendly Village will provide Sundale with a 
significant point of difference and help the organisation  
transition from a medical model of care to a service and 
social model of care. 

Extensive external and internal research and focus 
groups have revealed potential Bella Noosa customers 
prefer villa style living options as well as aged care and 
serviced apartments. 

The research has informed a re-design of Bella 
Noosa which could deliver a combination of villas and 
apartments and potentially a dementia friendly Care 
Centre.   

As an organisation we embraced the interim 
recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aged 
Care Quality and Safety, who released a scathing and 
heartbreaking report about the sector earlier in the year.

Reading the Commission’s assessment, I was overcome 
with emotion, but also disgust, that Australia’s most 
vulnerable residents have been neglected by a system 
which should have been supporting them. 

I’m extremely proud of the progressive steps Sundale 
has already taken, specifically our renewed focus on 
exceptional clinical care, our improved structures which 
better support our care recipients and decision to boost 
staff-to-resident ratios.

It’s my hope these measures will inspire other providers 
to make similar changes, so the sector can support 
every Australian in aged care, irrespective of their needs 
or circumstance.

Technology was a key focus at Sundale in the past year, 
with considerable resources spent on future-proofing 
the organisation.

A clinical solutions framework, consumer management 
system, information management and reporting 
initiatives and a robust cybersecurity framework were 
all implemented to help meet the evolving needs of care 
recipients, residents and team members.

Sundale continued to focus on and re-invest in its staff 
in the past year, with more than 40 current and emerging 
leaders participating in a multifaceted program which 
will further develop their leadership skills.

The Sundale Scholarship Fund, a program which 
financially supports team members and helps them 
attain a recognised qualification was also launched. 
Designed to remove some of the barriers often 
associated with further education, nine team members 
received $67,000 in total.

Reaffirming Sundale’s commitment to transparency, 
the results of the Employee Engagement Survey were 
shared with all team members. Importantly the results 
allowed the Executive Leadership Team to make 
considered decisions about the health of Sundale’s 
culture.

A Residential Assistance Program, which provides 
residents with free emotional and psychological 
support programs from qualified practitioners, including 
psychologists, social workers and counsellors if and 
when they need support was also launched in the past 
year.

A Stakeholder Engagement Team was also created to 
facilitate better communication and outcomes between 
Sundale members and the Executive Leadership Team. 

The COVID-19 situation in the second half of the 
financial year saw Sundale take measured, proactive 
steps to prepare for the unthinkable.

Additional rigor was applied to planning and the review 
of processes to ensure decisions made through the 
prism of COVID-19 could also handle challenges both 
planned and unexpected in the future.

We also established the Sundale COVID-19 Response 
Team to effectively direct and oversee organisational 
governance to help reduce the threat of COVID-19 
entering a Care Centre or Retirement Community and 
created our own roadmap to easing restrictions to 
provide ongoing clarity to team members, residents, 
care recipients and their families.

I would like to congratulate Sundale’s team members 
who showed outstanding commitment and resilience 
this year, particularly throughout the COVID-19 situation.

In the midst of a once in a generation global pandemic, 
they did not baulk, whinge or complain, instead, 
they showed enormous compassion, kindness and 
leadership, often under extremely trying circumstances 
to care for and support our care recipients and 
residents.

It is an exciting time to lead Sundale, particularly when 
you believe as passionately as I do in our purpose, our 
vision and our values.

Danielle Mackenzie 
chief executive officer
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Mark James 
EXECUTIVE MANAGER OF CORPORATE 
PERFORMANCE

Mark has responsibility for the Finance, People & 
Culture and ITC functions across the organisation. 

A results orientated leader with more than 15 
years-experience of working at the executive level 
and leading high performance teams. 

Mark enjoys the challenges of successfully 
increasing efficiency and productivity across the 
business. Joined Sundale in 2019. 

Danielle Mackenzie 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Danielle ensures Sundale’s care recipients, 
residents and clients receive outstanding care 
and assistance services and can live the life they 
choose, within a caring and supportive community.

As a high-achieving, motivated change agent 
and transformational leader, Danielle empowers 
Sundale’s team members to be kind, courageous 
and compassionate.

With more than 20 years of senior and executive 
management experience (aged care, mental health, 
health, child protection and disability), Danielle  
is using evidence-based outcomes to drive 
Sundale’s transformation.

Joined Sundale in 2018. 

Michelle McGowan 
EXECUTIVE MANAGER AGED CARE AND 
COMMUNITY SERVICES

Michelle is a passionate advocate for the ageing, 
the residential aged care and community care 
industries. Michelle demonstrates an ability to 
establish and maintain inclusive environments 
where team members are empowered to engage 
and be the best version of themselves to deliver 
optimal outcomes. 

Michelle has a well-developed, broad range of 
skills, with a focus on service excellence and 
providing exceptional customer service whilst 
adding value to the organisation.

Michelle is committed to bettering the work 
experience for staff through clear leadership, 
training and supportive management. 

Joined Sundale in 2006

 

Chris Davis 
EXECUTIVE PROJECT DIRECTOR 

Chris is responsible for Retirement Communities, 
Infrastructure, Development and Maintenance at 
Sundale. 

With more than 20 years in the property 
development sector, Chris has extensive 
experience in aged care, retirement, affordable 
housing, residential and commercial development.

Chris brings a passion for delivering projects 
which will enhance the lives of Sundale’s  
residents and their families and provide for a 
sustainable future.

Joined Sundale in 2019

Executive  
Leadership 
Team
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Sundale’s renewed focus on transparency and action 
was evident throughout the past year, with a range of 
initiatives launched following direct feedback from key 
stakeholders.

Utilising technology to enhance the business and meet 
the evolving needs of team members, care recipients, 
residents and members is the focus of Sundale’s three-
year digital transformation.

Foundation activities include new clinical solutions, 
consumer management systems, information 
management and reporting initiatives and a robust 
cybersecurity framework.

A key priority in Sundale’s Strategic Plan was a re-
investment in staff, and that’s exactly what’s happened 
in the past year.

More than 40 current and emerging leaders participated 
in a multifaceted program which further strengthened 
their leadership skills.

Sundale also launched a Scholarship Fund which 
financially supports team members and helps them 
attain a recognised qualification.

Designed to remove some of the barriers often 
associated with further education, a total of $67,000 
was awarded to nine team members.

Reaffirming Sundale’s commitment to transparency, 
the results of the Employee Engagement Survey were 
shared with all team members in April.

Top line results included:

•  An overall engagement score of 67 per cent. Across 
all industries, the Australian average is 71 per cent, 
with the gold standard being 75 per cent;

•  Two-thirds of team members would not leave 
Sundale for a job elsewhere. This cohort had an 
overall engagement score of 73 per cent;

•  One-third of team members would take a job 
elsewhere. This group has an overall engagement 
score of 53 per cent.

The survey results allowed Sundale’s Executive 
Leadership Team to make considered decisions about 
the health of Sundale’s culture and informed the creation 
of an organisation-wide action plan, which included a 
new behaviour code.

Sundale’s new head office was officially opened 
in February 2020 by CEO Danielle Mackenzie, care 
recipient June Glanville and Christine Stuart from the 
Gubbi Gubbi people.

For the first time in Sundale’s 57-year history, 
Administration and Support teams, historically based 
at multiple locations were consolidated under one roof, 
boosting efficiency and further creating a culture of 
teamwork, open communication and collaboration.

Acknowledging feedback, Sundale created a 
Stakeholder Engagement Team, a Staff Advisory 
Group to act as a collective voice for team members 
and established additional support mechanisms at its 
Retirement Communities to better meet the needs of 
residents.

Sundale also launched the Residential Assistance 
Program which provides residents with free emotional 
and psychological support programs from qualified 
practitioners, including psychologists, social workers 
and counsellors. 

Sundale’s transition in the past year also included 
the difficult decision to cease Rehabilitation Centre 
operations and close the facility because it was not 
economically viable.

The difficult, but appropriate decision aligned with the 
clear vision outlined in the Strategic Plan. Importantly 
the decision to cease operations and close the 
Rehabilitation Centre did not impact Allied Health 
services to Sundale’s care recipients at James Grimes, 
Bowder, McGowan, Palmwoods, Rotary or Coolum, with 
Rehabilitation Centre team members reassigned to work 
at specific Care Centres. 

Sundale also made the considered decision to transfer 
ownership of We Rock! Childcare in Kilcoy to Nambour 
Christian College early learners in early 2020, so it can 
fully focus on its core business - aged care.

The intergenerational programs Sundale championed at 
We Rock! Childcare Centre and Aloaka Care Centre for 
the past 17 years have continued.

19/20 Transition
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Muriel Peters is Sundale royalty.

The 90-year-old, who resides at Rotary Garden Village 
has had a front row seat to the creation and evolution of 
Sundale.

Her uncle, J.D. Grimes was one of Sundale’s founding 
fathers, while her aunt, Amy Grimes named the 
organisation.

“There was a naming competition in the local newspaper,” 
Muriel said.

“Growing up in Nambour, Amy knew the Doolan Street site 
well and suggested Sundale because the sun was always 
shining and the location reminded her of a beautiful valley 
or dale.”

Muriel fondly remembers the street stalls and fetes which 
helped fund construction in 1963 and the monthly visits 
to Nicklin Lodge on Sunday evenings by members of the 
local Methodist Church. 

Later when the Chapel extension was completed, a 
weekly service commenced with Muriel leading hymn 
singing, a tradition which would stretch 15 years.

Despite being a busy mum of four young children, Muriel 
often assisted and later joined the Sundale Ladies 
Auxiliary, which would later become known as Friends of 
Sundale.

The group championed many initiatives including trolley 
services to care recipients, singing groups, gifting flowers 
and presents to residents and manning Sundale stands 
at fetes. 

For the past 12 years Muriel has called Rotary Garden 
Village home, a short walk from Rod Voller Care Centre 
where she continues to volunteer her time by leading bible 
studies, hymn singing and other activities.

A regular on the croquet lawn, Muriel is also a past 
President of the Independent Living Unit Association 
and lists the construction of the clubhouse as her major 
achievement.

It’s been an honour and a privilege to be involved with, and 
volunteer at Sundale for almost 60 years.” Muriel said.

“My dream is to see Sundale redevelop Doolan Street, so 
it can support the local community for decades to come.” 

Muriel Peters (Grimes-Harrison-Peters)  
Resident

In the early 1960s Sundale’s founding fathers 
demonstrated enormous vision and established a 
community that would serve the Sunshine Coast region 
for decades to come.

Inspired by Ray Wilson, Robert Sherwell, Ian Hayne, 
Noel Parry, Clem Renouf, J.D. Grimes and Roy Charlton 
(Sundale’s first Management Committee), Sundale has 
made a series of measured decisions in the past year, 
so history can be repeated.

Supported by insight from internal and external industry 
experts, Sundale’s considered decision to delay the 
developments at Nambour Garden Village and Bella 
Noosa in Tewantin means it is in a stronger position to 
service the evolving needs of the community for the 
next 40 years. 

It is clear the original plans for Doolan Street and 
McKinnon Drive in Tewantin hindered Sundale’s promise 
to explore retirement and lifestyle options through 
the prism of future needs, including technology and 
amenity.

It will come as no surprise the existing infrastructure at 
Nambour Garden Village is aging, outdated and requires 
immediate attention.

Research commissioned by Sundale shows the 
Sunshine Coast region has an aging population and a 
strong need for specialist dementia facilities.

To create a viable, clear and exciting roadmap for 
Nambour Garden Village, Sundale has engaged 
world leading experts from Holland, who will develop 
a Concept and Business Plan for a Seniors Living 
Dementia Friendly Village at Doolan Street.

Currently under consideration, the Seniors Living 

Dementia Friendly Village will provide Sundale with a 
significant point of difference and help the organisation 
transition from a medical model of care to a service and 
social model of care. 

The redevelopment at Nambour Garden Village could 
also form part of Reimagine Nambour Inc, a community 
association which has been formed to bring to life the 
Nambour Economic Transition Strategy. 

Extensive external and internal research has been 
undertaken in the past year regarding Bella Noosa at 
Tewantin, which could provide both Care Centre and 
Retirement Community options for the Sunshine Coast.

Extensive research has discovered potential Bella Noosa 
customers prefer villa style living options as well as 
aged care and serviced apartments. 

The research has informed a re-design of Bella 
Noosa which could deliver a combination of villas and 
apartments and potentially a dementia friendly Care 
Centre.   

Construction tender documents are currently being 
prepared.

At Coolum Waters, work is underway on a 23-unit 
addition to the Retirement Community which will 
combine the best aspects of outdoor living and 
entertaining with a low-maintenance lifestyle. 

While at Palmwoods Garden Village, a comprehensive 
planning and consultation program with residents in 
underway.

The program, along with independent research will help 
determine the style and layout of additional independent 
living units.

The future
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Care 
Centres

IN DETAIL
BINDAREE

- 40 One-bedroom units        
- 39 Carers  
- 4 Registered nurses 
- 8 Enrolled nurses 
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 15 Support staff 
- 1 Lifestyle coordinator
- 1 Lifestyle assistant  
- 27 Volunteers 
- 377 Activities annually 

ROTARY GARDEN VILLAGE

- 50 One-bedroom units
- 29 Carers
- 5 Registered nurses
- 4 Enrolled nurses
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 6 Support staff 
- 2 Lifestyle coordinators 
- 4 Volunteers
- 650 Activities annually 

COOLUM WATERS

- 50 One-bedroom units
- 32 Carers
- 7 Registered nurses
- 5 Enrolled nurses
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 9 Support staff 
- 3 Lifestyle coordinators 
- 6 Volunteers 
- 550 Activities annually 

BOWDER 
(Nambour Garden Village)

- 32 One-bedroom units 
- 23 Carers
- 9 Registered nurses
- 5 Enrolled nurses
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 1 Physiotherapist 
- 3 Housekeepers 
- 1 Lifestyle coordinator
- 1 Lifestyle assistant   
- 2 Volunteers 
- 572 Activities annually 

MC GOWAN 
(Nambour Garden Village)

- 49 One-bedroom units 
- 3 Two-bedroom units 
- 20 Carers
- 7 Registered nurses
- 5 Enrolled nurses
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 2 Physiotherapists 
- 2 Housekeepers 
- 1 Lifestyle coordinator 
- 5 Volunteers
- 600 Activities annually 

JAMES GRIMES CARE CENTRE 
(Nambour Garden Village)

- 33 One-bedroom units 
- 42 Double rooms
- 48 Carers
- 11 Registered nurses
- 9 Enrolled nurses
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 9 Support staff 
- 3 Lifestyle coordinators 
- 16 Volunteers 
- 728 Activities annually 

ALOAKA

- 40 One-bedroom units
- 28 Carers
- 7 Registered nurses
- 8 Enrolled nurses
- 1 Clinical nurse
- 14 Support staff
- 1 Lifestyle coordinator
- 2 Lifestyle assistants
- 7 Volunteers
- 850 Activities annually

PALMWOODS GARDEN VILLAGE

- 71 One-bedroom units
- 36 Carers  
- 5 Registered nurses 
- 6 Enrolled nurses 
- 1 Clinical nurse 
- 13 Support staff 
- 3 Lifestyle coordinators 
- 20 Volunteers 
- 1400 Activities annually 

Blending outstanding support, comfortable 
accommodation, lush gardens and a caring and 
welcoming community, Sundale’s fully accredited 
Care Centres provide exceptional aged care 
services and assistance for optimal health and 
wellbeing.

6
ROTARY GARDEN VILLAGE 
98 Windsor Road, Nambour, QLD 4560

COOLUM WATERS 
4 Wembley Rd, Coolum Beach, QLD 4573

NAMBOUR GARDEN VILLAGE 
35 Doolan Street, Nambour, QLD 4560

PALMWOODS GARDEN VILLAGE  
61 Jubilee Dr, Palmwoods, QLD 4555
BINDAREE 
1 Beacon Ave, Boyne Island, QLD 4680

ALOAKA 
52 Taylor St, Kilcoy, QLD 4515

LOCATIONS
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Sundale’s Retirement Communities combine 
independence and outstanding support with caring, 
compassionate staff to deliver exceptional care and 
assistance services to the community.

4Retirement 
Communities

ROTARY GARDEN VILLAGE 

-  24 One-bedroom units
-  52 Two-bedroom units
-  4 Three-bedroom units

COOLUM WATERS

- 22 Two-bedroom units
- 78 Three-bedroom units
 

NAMBOUR GARDEN 
VILLAGE

- 18 Two-bedroom units

PALMWOODS GARDEN 
VILLAGE 

- 81 Two-bedroom units
- 26 Three-bedroom units

IN DETAIL

LOCATIONS

ROTARY GARDEN VILLAGE 
98 Windsor Road, Nambour, QLD 4560

COOLUM WATERS 
4 Wembley Rd, Coolum Beach, QLD 4573

NAMBOUR GARDEN VILLAGE 
35 Doolan Street, Nambour, QLD 4560

PALMWOODS GARDEN VILLAGE  
61 Jubilee Dr, Palmwoods, QLD 4555

McGowan Lodge carer, Kate Armand stumbled 
into aged care later in life.

Originally an Executive Assistant and later an Office 
Manager, Kate wanted a completely new career, so to 
celebrate her 50th birthday, enrolled in an aged care 
course.

To complement her studies, Kate volunteered at Sundale 
and it wasn’t long before she was offered a full-time role 
by Michelle McGowan.

“I wasted too many years in an office – aged care has 
definitely given my professional life purpose,” Kate said.

“Next year I will celebrate a decade with Sundale and I 
couldn’t be happier, I’m just disappointed I didn’t make the 
move into aged care a lot earlier in life.”

Kate said the care recipients are her main focus at 
McGowan and the reason she loves working at Sundale.

“The residents become part of your extended family 
because you are with them so much,” Kate said.

“My mum passed away too early and I can hardly 
remember my nan. At Sundale I feel as if I get to work with 
my adopted grandparents every single day.

“Sundale’s care recipients deserve to be pampered and 
made to feel special. Many of them have been to war 
and overcome hardships. I’m very appreciative of the 
sacrifices they’ve made. 

“I celebrate my 60th birthday next year and I have no plans 
to retire. In fact, I’ll probably walk out of Sundale one day 
as a team member and return the next day as a resident.” 

Kate Armand  
Team member  
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In-Home Care
Sundale’s specialist team of registered nurses and 
carers deliver specialist In-Home Care support 
throughout the Sunshine Coast.

268
CUSTOMERS

4,927
BEDS MADE

2,475
OUTINGS

27,855
SERVICES

33
IN-HOME CARERS

7,027
LOADS OF WASHING

469,464 
KILOMETRES TRAVELLED

75km
WORKING RADIUS

SUNSHINE COAST 
75km radius from Rotary Garden Village  
(98 Windsor Road, Nambour, QLD 4560)

Leila Walters has called Sunvilla home at 
Nambour Garden Village for the past 18 years.

Born in Chinchilla, the 84-year-old had the quintessential 
regional Queensland upbringing, calling both a dairy farm 
and a pineapple farm home before relocating to Nambour 
with her family 1950.

Leila’s first memory of Sundale is through her mother 
in law, Grace Walters, who lived at Nicklin Lodge in the 
1960s. 

Leila, who has five children, 10 grandchildren and 15 great 
grandchildren says her Sunvilla unit is the nicest home 
she’s ever had.

“I love living at Sundale,” Leila said.

“It has everything a person could need, plus I don’t have to 
mow the lawn!”

Leila has been an active and constant contributor to the 
Nambour Garden Village community since 2002.

“I joined the social club when I first moved in,” Leila said.

“The social club was our life back then. We had sausage 
sizzles every month, events, sing-a-longs and barbeques.

“I was Treasurer of the social club for 14 years, however 
I had to give it away because of my poor eyesight, but it 
didn’t stop me helping out in the canteen or organising 
bus trips.”  

Leila plans to live at Sunvilla for as long as she can, before 
relocating to one of Nambour Garden Village’s Care 
Centres. 

Leila Walters  
Resident 
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For more than seven years Sundale has 
been providing affordable housing options to 
Sunshine Coast residents on low incomes.

In partnership with Coast2Bay Housing 
Group, Sundale supports the Better Together 
Housing Project which helps independent 
women 55 years of age and above find shared 
accommodation on the Sunshine Coast. 

Different to regular flatmate finder initiatives, 
the program helps senior women find suitable 
accommodation in a safe and secure way and 
links people who are interested in sharing a 
home, not just a house.  

In 2019, Sundale and Coast2Bay Housing 
Group won the Leading Innovation Award at 
the Australasian Housing Institute Awards for 
the pioneering program. 

Affordable 
Housing

Caravan 
Parks

Sundale owns and operates three caravan parks 
situated in Torquay, Cannon Hill and Woombye.

3
LOCATIONS

LAZY ACRES 
91 Exeter St, Torquay, QLD 4655

WOOMBYE GARDENS  
151 Nambour Connection,  
Woombye, QLD 4559

MONTE CARLO 
1189 Wynnum Rd, Cannon Hill, QLD 4170

LAZY ACRES 

Perfect for sea-changers, retirees and 
young families, Lazy Acres, located 
in the seaside town of Torquay, offers 
residents and visitors an idyllic lifestyle 
and the perfect escape from the hustle 
and bustle of everyday life.

WOOMBYE GARDENS  

Ideal for sea changers and retirees 
looking to relax, Woombye Gardens, 
located in the Sunshine Coast 
hinterland, offers residents the choice 
of one and two-bedroom cabins.

MONTE CARLO

Less than 10 minutes from the Brisbane 
CBD and neighbouring supermarkets, 
cafes and restaurants, Monte Carlo 
offers residents and retirees the choice 
of one and two-bedroom cabins set 
amongst established, lush gardens. 
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11
STAFF

192,000
SHEETS IRONED

521,650
KG OF LINEN PROCESSED

85,000
KILOMETRES TRAVELLED

210,000
TOWELS FOLDED

Laundry
Sundale’s state-of-the-art laundry facility at 
Kunda Park processes more than 521 tonnes 
of laundry each year and features the latest 
high-speed, high-capacity washing machines, 
commercial driers and linen ironers.

In addition to servicing its own needs, 
Sundale’s laundry oversees the workwear 
and linen requirements of construction, food, 
healthcare, hospitality, manufacturing, mining 
and transport businesses throughout the 
Sunshine Coast.

Sundale’s laundry also recognises the 
importance of reducing its carbon footprint 
and is continually exploring options to reduce 
water and energy consumption, in the hope 
of becoming Australia’s first totally ‘green’ 
laundry.

Betty Jenkins, who resides at Sunvilla at 
Nambour Garden Village has been volunteering at 
James Grimes Care Centre for the past 20 years, 
however, her desire to help others stretches back 
more than seven decades.

As a young nurse stationed at Fitzroy Crossing in outback 
Western Australia and later at Radium Hill in South 
Australia, Betty volunteered her time and services to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service.

“It was how I met my husband, Jack, who was a pilot for 
the Royal Flying Doctor Service in the 1950s,” Betty said.

Married in 1956, the couple relocated to Broken Hill, where 
Betty continued to work as a nurse, despite having two 
small children.

In 1981 the couple semi-retired to the Sunshine Coast and 
purchased a macadamia farm at Forest Glen.

Despite a lifetime of helping others as a nurse, Betty was 
inspired to volunteer at Sundale following the death of 
her husband and at the urging of the Nambour Uniting 
Church.

“The residents are always just so happy to see you,” Betty 
said.

“There’s not much I haven’t done at James Grimes Care 
Centre. I’ve swept the courtyards, watered the pot plants, 
mended clothes and helped with church services in the 
chapel.

“When COVID-19 restrictions ease, I’ll be the first one lined 
up at the front door to get back in and volunteer.”

Betty Jenkins  
Volunteer
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The Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and 
Safety is a landmark inquiry into Australia’s aged care 
sector and was established following a series of media 
investigations and more than 70 reviews by successive 
Australian Governments over the past decade. 

In October 2019, the Royal Commission into Aged Care 
Quality and Safety released an Interim Report that 
labelled the industry a “sad and shocking system” that 
“diminishes Australia as a nation”.

The Interim Report found Australia’s aged care system 
fails to meet the needs of its older, vulnerable, citizens, 
does not deliver uniformly safe and quality care, is 
unkind and uncaring towards older people and, in too 
many instances, neglects them.

The Interim Report identified three key areas which need 
“immediate” reform. They are the waiting list for home 
care, an “over-reliance” on chemical restraints for aged-
care residents and stopping the flow of young people 
with a disability into aged-care homes.

The Interim Report found Australia’s aged-care services 
are underfunded, mostly poorly managed and all too 
often unsafe and seemingly uncaring.

The Royal Commissioners said Australia had developed 
an “ageist mindset” towards seniors and a public 
discourse that was about “burden, encumbrance, 
obligation and whether taxpayers can afford to pay for 
the dependence of older people”.

The three volume, Interim Report also found the aged 
care system needs fundamental reform and redesign 
and identified systemic problems in aged care with a 
system which: 

•   Is designed around transactions, not relationships or 
care; 

•   Minimises the voices of people receiving care and 
their loved ones;

•   Is hard to navigate and does not provide information 
people need to make informed choices about their 
care; 

•   Relies on a regulatory model that does not provide 
transparency or an incentive to improve;

•   Has a workforce that is under pressure and under-
appreciated and that lacks key skills.

The Interim Report also focused on the sector’s 
workforce and found the quality of care people 
receive depends very much on the quality of the paid 
carers, their working conditions, their leadership and 
engagement. 

Sundale completely embraces the recommendations of 
the Interim Report and is determined to play a proactive 
part in reform and sector change.  

Caring for older Australians is an issue of national 
importance and is too important not to get right.

It’s essential older Australians can access exceptional 
services, not just today, but into the future.

In the past year Sundale has taken a number of 
progressive steps including the implementation of 
structures to cater for the changing needs of clinical 
care, invested in learning and development programs to 
empower staff and increased staff-to-resident ratios, so 
it remains a provider of choice and continues to support 
the residents and clients in its care, irrespective of their 
needs or circumstance.

Importantly, and validating Sundale’s approach and 
commitment to exceptional clinical care, assessors 
from the Department of Health praised Sundale for 
its approach following multiple unscheduled visits 
throughout the past year.

The assessors shared stories of positivity, best practice, 
glowing consumer and staff feedback which included 
the exceptional care Sundale provides, our new model of 
care, consumer dignity and choice, the positive change 
in culture and the responsiveness of management.

Sundale has also invested considerable time and 
resources to ensure it remains a positive example to the 
sector. 

The Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and 
Safety is scheduled to deliver its full report into the 
sector in February 2021.

The Royal Commission into 
Aged Care Quality and Safety 

Earlier this year a wonderful Nambour family 
made a remarkable contribution to Sundale in 
memory of their dear sister Gladys and beloved 
mother Annie.

At a special morning tea, Col and Pamela 
Johnstone, on behalf of their family, donated 
$40,000 to Sundale.

Annie was 101 when she passed away peacefully 
in 1996 after ten wonderful years at McGowan 
Lodge, while Gladys decided it was her time late 
last year at the age of 90.

Gladys was born with cataracts on both eyes 
and a damaged optic nerve, which rendered her 
disabled.

When she was born, doctors predicted Gladys 
wouldn’t live past 50, however she lived another 
40 years, which according to the Johnstone 
family was as a result of the love and care she 
received at Sundale.

At Sundale, Gladys and her mum were 
inseparable and were often found together, 
cuddled up in the same bed.

Gladys shared a special bond with many of the 
carers, nurses and volunteers and Sundale, 
including Bowder Lifestyle Coordinator Noela 

Sharpe, who over the years became a wonderful 
friend to the Johnstone family.

Gladys was well known for loving a cup of tea, so 
when the time is right, Sundale plans to honour 
Gladys’s legacy via a dedicated tea room when 
the new development at Nambour is built.

Col, Annie’s son and Gladys brother said 
Sundale’s founding fathers also deserve 
recognition for their vision in providing care and 
support for the Nambour community.

“The Johnstone family is so very pleased to be 
able to contribute to Sundale in a tangible way,” 
Col said.

“It’s our way of saying thank you for the love and 
care our mum and sister received at Sundale over 
a 34-year period.

“It’s also what Gladys wanted and she would be 
so happy about the plans to name a tea room in 
her memory.

“We are forever thankful to the loving staff 
of Sundale and look forward to the day we 
can celebrate the opening of the planned 
remembrance together.”

The Johnstone family   
Donations

S U N D A L E  2 0 1 9 / 2 0 2 0   # 2 7# 2 6   S U N D A L E  2 0 1 9 / 2 0 2 0  



Noelene Cook, who resides at Coolum Waters 
Retirement Community has handled the COVID-19 
restrictions better than most.

“For more than 20 years I lived at Sydney’s Quarantine 
Station at North Head, which overlooked Sydney Harbour 
with my husband and family,” Noelene said.

“The site is now heritage listed and a tourist attraction, 
but for more than a century it regulated the risk of disease 
importation.

“Foreigners who arrived by ship and later by air, who might 
have an infectious disease or virus had to quarantine at 
the station until it was safe or them to be released.”

Noelene has called Sundale home for the past 11 years 
and said the Sunshine Coast reminds her of Sydney’s 
Northern Beaches.

“Coolum is a little bit quieter than Manly,” Noelene said. 

“When I first moved to the Sunshine Coast, Coolum was a 
nice little village, however, it’s a bustling centre now.

“I love keeping busy and it’s one of the reasons I choose 
to live at Sundale, along with the sense of community.

“I play tennis at the Coolum Tennis Club at least twice 
a week, I line dance, swim when the weather is warm 
enough, enjoy the village’s exercise classes and walk for 
at least two hours each day.” 

Noelene Cook  
Resident 

The ongoing and evolving COVID-19 situation in the 
second half of the financial year saw

Sundale take measured, proactive steps to prepare for 
the unthinkable.

Additional rigor was applied to planning and the review 
of processes to ensure decisions made through the lens 
of COVID-19 could also handle challenges both planned 
and unexpected in the future.

The virus also highlighted the importance of innovation 
and technology, with both forecast to play a more 
substantial role at Sundale in the years to come.

In February, the Executive Leadership Team made  
the considered decision to establish the Sundale 
COVID-19 Response Team to effectively direct and 
oversee organisational governance to help reduce  
the threat of COVID-19 entering a Care Centre or 
Retirement Community.

The Sundale COVID-19 Response Team oversaw an 
organisation wide, simulation exercise which allowed 
Site Managers to implement their COVID-19 Outbreak 
Response Plans. Industry peak body, Leading Age 
Services Australia (LASA) was so impressed with 
Sundale’s approach and comprehensive evaluation, it 
requested access to our Outbreak Checklist to share 
with other aged care providers. 

The Sundale COVID-19 Response Team also 
campaigned for a compassionate and consistent 
industry-wide visitor policy which prioritised the safety 
and wellbeing of care recipients without compromising 
their health when being visited by family and friends.

To provide ongoing clarity to the evolving COVID-19 
situation, Sundale created its own roadmap to easing 
restrictions.

Sundale’s four-phased roadmap outlines what care 
recipients and their family and friends can and cannot 
do in the current COVID-19 environment and aligns with 
recommendations from the Queensland Government 
and the Aged Care Direction.

Sundale also chose to prioritise compassion throughout 
the COVID-19 situation by launching the Kindness 
Campaign, an initiative where Sunshine Coast and 
Boyne Island residents could write messages of support 
or paint pictures for Sundale’s care recipients.

The messages of love and support were regularly 
shared amongst Sundale’s care recipients and also 
published in the Sunshine Coast Daily and the  
Gladstone Observer.

COVID-19
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Sundale prioritised a number of Work, Health & Safety 
initiatives in the past year and nurtured a culture of 
consultation and collaboration.

The below table details the key performance indicators of 
Sundale’s Work, Health & Safety Management Plan. 

Work, Health & Safety

ACTION 
AREA OUTCOME STRATEGIES MEASURE ↑↓ RESULT

Healthy 
& safe by 
design

Work, work processes 
and systems of work are 
designed and managed 
to eliminate or minimise 
hazards and risks.

Workplace safety inspections 
All workplaces are regularly 
inspected to identify and 
address hazards.

Quarterly 
via Work, Health & 
Safety Inspection 
Tool in every entity.

↑ 89%

Risk assessments 
Risk assessments are 
conducted whenever a 
hazard is identified or 
reported to a Health & 
Safety Representative or 
Management.

Monthly 
100% of identified 
hazards have a 
risk assessment 
completed.

↓ 85%

Risk control 
When a hazard’s residual risk 
rating remains medium or 
higher, the hazard is escalated 
to a risk, controls are 
documented and monitored 
for effectiveness.

Monthly 
100% of risk level of 
medium and above 
are controlled in the 
Risk Register.

↑ 96%

Pre-purchase checklists 
Pre-purchase checklists are 
completed for all new plant 
and equipment.

Monthly 
100% new plant and 
equipment has pre-
purchase checklists 
completed.

↑ 68%

Supply chain 
and networks

Commercial relationships 
with suppliers and 
contractors are used to 
improve work health and 
safety.

Contractor induction 
100% contractors and 
subcontractors are provided 
with an Induction Handbook 
and sign to acknowledge.

Annually 
100% of contractors 
have signed 
Induction Handbook. 

↓ 85%

Review of supplier 
agreements 
Health and safety compliance 
will be a consideration in the 
review and renegotiation of all 
supplier agreements.  

Annually 
100% of supplier 
agreements are 
reviewed with 
regard to health and 
safety when due for 
renewal.

↓ 85%

ACTION 
AREA OUTCOME STRATEGIES MEASURE ↑↓ RESULT

Health 
and safety 
capabilities

Everyone at Sundale 
has the work, health and 
safety capability they 
require. Work, health and 
safety skills development 
is integrated into relevant 
training programs.

Orientation 
All team members are 
oriented to Sundale and 
provided with appropriate 
Work, Health & Safety training. 

Monthly 
100% of team 
members fully 
oriented within 
one month of 
commencement.

↑ 82%

Emergency Response and 
Evacuation Plans  
Emergency Response and 
Evacuation Plans are current 
and comply with the Building 
Fire Safety Regulation 2008.

Annually 
Work, Health & 
Safety Inspection 
Tool indicates 
compliance. 

↓ 90%

Work, Health & Safety Seek 
and Find 
All new team members 
complete a Seek & Find within 
two days of commencing 
work.

Monthly 
100% new team 
members have 
completed Seek & 
Find.

↑ 85%

Person Conducting a 
Business or Undertaking 
(PCBU) Officer competency 
All Sundale office holders 
undergo health and safety due 
diligence training periodically. 

Tri-annually  
100% of office 
holders complete 
appropriate due 
diligence training. 

→ 100%

Emergency preparedness  
Emergency response and 
critical incident response 
testing is carried out annually.

Annually  
each entity 
completes 
emergency response 
testing.. 

→ 100%
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It was family who inspired Bowder lifestyle 
coordinator, Noela Sharpe to consider a career in 
aged care. 

“Dad went into aged care just before he passed and the 
lifestyle program offered by the provider was absolutely 
atrocious,” Noela said.

“Just before dad’s funeral I said to my husband, Ken, I 
want to make a difference, so the following week I set 
about attaining my Certificate 3 in Aged Care.

“As part of my training I came to Sundale and was urged 
to apply for a permanent position – 16 years later I’m part 
of the furniture at Sundale.

Noela’s mother was often bedridden throughout her 
childhood and credits her father with teaching her the 
importance of compassion and kindness.

“I used to watch dad look after mum and the care and 
respect he showed her. They are lessons I carry with me 
every day at Bowder,” Noela said.  

“Life can be a very lonely place, especially in a Care 
Centre.

“That’s why lifestyle programs are so important. 
You can create activities where fun and laughter are 
commonplace.

“It’s vital everyone has a voice and can feel safe, secure 
and happy.

“The position I hold as Lifestyle Coordinator is over and 
above a dream come true. I am part of an amazing team 
at Sundale.

“I also have the opportunity to care for people like my dad 
and help them put meaning and value into their days by 
dispel feelings of loneliness, isolation, helplessness and 
boredom.”

Noela Sharpe  
Team member

ACTION 
AREA OUTCOME STRATEGIES MEASURE ↑↓ RESULT

Leadership 
and culture

Sundale’s leaders 
prioritise work, health 
and safety and foster a 
culture of consultation 
and collaboration.

Team member meetings 
Safety is a standing agenda 
item for all team meetings and 
minutes record discussions 
relating to health and safety.

Quarterly 
health and safety 
discussions are 
recorded in all team 
meeting minutes.

↑ 90%

Health and Safety Committee 
Meetings 
Health and safety 
representatives attend 
quarterly meetings.

Quarterly 
every workgroup is 
represented at each 
meeting.

↓ 25%

Annual mandatory training 
All team members complete 
relevant mandatory training.

Annually 
100% of team 
members have 
completed annual 
mandatory training.

→ 90%

Regular awareness raising 
activities 
Different monthly, appropriate 
health and safety focus. 

Monthly 
health and safety 
calendar of 
scheduled focus 
activities is achieved. 

→ 85%

Research and 
evaluation

Research is targeted and 
evidence used to improve 
health and safety.

Incident reporting 
All care recipient, resident, 
client and workplace incidents 
are reported in i.on my care.

Monthly 
100% of incidents 
reported are 
analysed to 
determine trends. 

↑ 85%

Workplace Incident 
investigation  
All incidents are investigated 
and preventive actions 
identified and implemented 
where practicable. 

Monthly 
100% of workplace 
incidents are 
investigated, 
control measures 
implemented where 
practicable and 
closed. 

↓ 85%

Highlights include:

•   Sundale’s Care Centres achieved fantastic results at its 
external food safety program audits in the past year, 
which are overseen by respective local government 
authorities.

•   The reintroduction of the Participative Ergonomics for 
Manual Handling (PErforM) program to help prevent 
manual handling injuries. 

•   The creation of a new Work, Health & Safety Management 
Plan which is informed by AS/NZS 4801:2001 
Occupational health and safety management systems – 
Specification with guidance for use and aligns with the 
Australian Work Health and Safety Strategy 2012-2022 – 
healthy, safe and productive working lives.  

•   There was one incident in the past year that was 
reportable to Workplace Health and Safety / Workers’ 
Compensation Regulator. No follow up was required as 
the Inspector from the WHS Regulator was satisfied with 
Sundale’s management of the incident and the action 
taken to prevent any recurrence. 

Sundale is a member of the Aged Care Employers’ Scheme 
for workers’ compensation.
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John Woodward 
CHAIRPERSON 
BPharm(Hons), Adv. Prac. Pharm., BCPS, 
BCGP, GAICD 

Advanced practice pharmacist who 
specialises in general and geriatric 
medicine pharmacy.  

Provides clinical pharmacy services in 
general medical practices and has a 
long history of managing community 
pharmacies. 

He is a non-executive director of 
the Central Queensland, Wide Bay, 
Sunshine Coast Primary Health 
Network. He is a past member of the 
Queensland Clinical Senate and the 
Queensland Statewide Older Person’s 
Health Clinical Network Steering 
Committee.

He is a Graduate Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in  
2012 and took on the role of 
Chairperson in 2018. 

Troy Wainwright 
DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON AND 
CHAIR OF THE INFRASTRUCTURE 
AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE    

BBus, CPA, MBA 

15 years’ experience within 
the property development and 
construction industries, including 
small business and top 25 ASX listed 
companies. A qualified accountant 
and current Director of Epic Seafoods, 
a wholesale company.

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in 2015. 

Christine Perren 
DIRECTOR AND CHAIR OF THE 
AUDIT FINANCE AND RISK 
COMMITTEE 

BBus, AIMM, CPA 

Partner with SDE Accountants since 
2013 and involved in a number of local 
community-based organisations on 
the Sunshine Coast, holding a number 
of Board positions within those 
organisations. 

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in 2015. 

Anita Phillips 
DIRECTOR AND CHAIR OF THE 
QUALITY AND SAFETY COMMITTEE

BA/Dip.Soc.Studs; MPA; Grad.Dip.Leg.
Studs 

Experience as a Social Worker within 
many fields of practice, including 
aged and disability care, and also 
contributing to the formation of  
social policy. 

Extensive government experience, 
including as a Member of Queensland 
Parliament and at Executive level with 
Federal, State and Local government 
departments. 

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in 2017. 

Ian Hall 
DIRECTOR 

Dip.Tech, B.Ed 

40 years involvement in Education, 
including 25 years as Principal. The 
last 10 years has been as School 
Auditor which involves reviewing 
the actions of School Boards and 
Committees. Extensive experience 
working with government regulations 
and policies.

Born in Nambour with numerous 
family connections to Sundale.

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in 2019. 

Steve Telbum 
DIRECTOR 

MBA, BSc, GAICD 

Managing Director of technology 
and innovation advisory firm with 14 
years of Board Director experience. 
Extensive IT experience and an 
appointee of Innovation and Science 
Australia, a statutory board that 
advises the government on innovation 
and science matters. Previously the 
CEO of various technology companies 
and has led the implementation of IT 
systems in large organisations.

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in 2019. 

Sonja Walters 
DIRECTOR 

MBA, BSW 

Social Worker and training consultant 
with over 20 years’ experience in 
Executive and Boards across public, 
private and not for profit sectors. 
Particular experience in the property, 
education, insurance, occupational 
rehabilitation, and community 
services industries.

Joined the Sundale Ltd Board in 2019. 

The Board

Board and AGM attendance 
Name Held Attended

John Woodward 15 15
Troy Wainwright 15 15
Christine Perren 15 13
Anita Phillips 15 14
Ian Hall
(Joined November 2019) 9 8
Steve Telbum
(Joined December 2019) 9 9
Sonja Walters
(Joined December 2019) 9 7
Peter Clarke
(Resigned 31 December 2019) 6 4
Swain Roberts 
(Resigned 25 February 2020) 8 6
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Sundale’s Board is accountable for the strategy, 
performance, compliance and risk management  
of the organisation. 

Responsible for the overall governance of Sundale, the 
Board ensures the continuity and long-term viability  
of the business.

To properly evaluate opportunities and risks faced 
by Sundale, Board Directors have a responsibility to 
understand the complexities of the aged care sector, 
specifically operations, controls, regulatory obligations, 
technology, types of transactions and the evolving 
political and economic environment. 

Board responsibilities include:

Strategy, policies and governance

•   Establishing and observing high ethical standards and 
approving high level policies;

•   Approving the strategic direction of Sundale;

•   Monitoring the implementation Sundale’s strategic 
direction by the Chief Executive Officer;

•   Approving Board policy documents; 

•   Establishing and determining the powers and 
functions of all Committees of the Board to ensure 
their effective operation and performance against their 
Terms of Reference; and

•   Setting the cultural standards expected at Sundale. 

Management

•   Appointing and removing the Chief Executive Officer;

•   Appointing and removing the Company Secretary;

•   Recommending the appointment of an external 
auditor to members; 

•   Monitoring the performance of the Chief Executive 
Officer; and

•   Oversight of Sundale, including its control and 
accountability systems.

Financial

•   Input to, final approval of, and monitoring performance 
against the corporate strategy, annual business plan 
and budget;

•   Approving and monitoring the progress of major 
capital expenditure, capital management and  
property acquisitions;

•   Approving and monitoring financial expenditure; 

•   Ensuring Sundale’s assets are safeguarded;

•   Approving expenditure outside the approved budget 
and delegations; and

•   Monitoring the performance of external auditors.

Compliance and risk

•   Ensuring appropriate mechanisms are in place  
to monitor compliance in line with all legal and  
regulatory obligations;

•   Reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management 
and internal compliance and controls, codes of 
conduct, legal compliance and other significant 
corporate policies; and

•   Reviewing the effectiveness of the implementation  
of Sundale’s risk management systems at least once 
a year.

Underpinning the Board’s commitment to clinical 
governance, a stand-alone Quality and Safety 
Committee was created in the past year.

The Quality and Safety Committee’s focus is the 
clinical and safety aspects of Sundale’s operations 
and acknowledges the importance of the Single 
Aged Quality Framework and Standards which were 
introduced on 1 July 2019.

The standards mandate a shift away from traditional 
models of care and require a dramatic transformation 
which prioritise quality care for consumers.

Governance

For the past 24 years Marion McDonald has lived 
across the road from Nambour Garden Village 
and since 2000 has been volunteering at James 
Grimes Care Centre.

Originally from Griffith in New South Wales, Marion and 
her husband Bill swapped the Murrumbidgee Irrigation 
Area for the pineapple farms of the Sunshine Coast in the 
late 1950s.

Three children only heightened Marion’s sense of 
community and giving back via volunteer work with Meals 
on Wheels, the Red Cross Chelsea Flower Show and in the 
school library and canteen. 

“I’m a people-person and that’s one of the reasons I love 
to volunteer,” Marion said.

“Despite not living at Sundale, I wanted to volunteer at 
Nambour Garden Village, so I walked across the road and 
asked how I could help.

“That was one of the best decisions I ever made.

“As a member of Friends of Sundale, I helped in the 
canteen and organised fundraisers for the Care Centre.”

Marion said she has formed lasting friendships with many 
of the Sundale volunteers and care recipients.

“Volunteering has enriched my life,” Marion said.

“I’ve made lifelong friends and also had the opportunity to 
help people along the way. It’s a great feeling.

“I’m particularly proud of our fundraising efforts and 
the equipment we were able to purchase for Sundale, 
including lifting machines and rehab bikes.”

Marion McDonald  
Volunteer
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Financials
2019/2020

In the past year the Sundale Board made a number  
of strategic and measured financial decisions which  
are designed to deliver financial certainty for decades  
to come.

Illustrating the growing sophistication of the business, 
the Board engaged external experts to assist with long-
term modelling and responsible financial planning. 

Financially, the sector is under enormous pressure, with 
costs rising at a much faster rate than annual increases 
in government subsidies.

A recent report commissioned by the Royal 
Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety revealed 
74% of Residential Aged Care providers may not be 
financially viable in the future, unless the sector receives 
a significant funding boost.

Despite recording a comprehensive loss of $9.75m for 
the year, Sundale continues to have a strong balance 
sheet and has maintained its positive cash flow by 
recording an actual increase in cash of $1.57m in the 
past year.

Profit & Loss

Sundale’s five-year strategic plan (2019-2024) outlines a 
clear vision for the organisation.

It’s essential older Australians can access exceptional 
services, not just today, but into the future. To make 
this vision a reality, Sundale invested considerable time 
and resources in the past year to ensure it remains 
a provider of choice and continues to support the 
residents and clients in its care, irrespective of their 
needs or circumstance.

Sundale recorded an operating loss of $13.21m for 
the year, of which $10.26m directly relates to its Care 
Centres. Key factors behind the loss include industry 
wide revenue/cost pressures and the implementation of 
Sundale’s five-year strategic plan.

An increase in accommodation payable revenues and 
a jump in occupancy across all sites allowed Sundale’s 
Retirement Communities to increase its operating 
performance by $668k compared to the previous year.

Sundale’s investment properties produced a $165k 
profit despite an increase in holding costs and 
reduced income, while the organisation’s Caravan 
Parks maintained their profit position compared to the 

previous year, despite an increase in staffing, repairs and 
IT expenses.

All other activities produced a loss of $3.056m. Income 
was impacted by the closure of the loss-making 
Rehabilitation Centre in February and a severe decline in 
Laundry income throughout the COVID-19 situation.

Sundale’s operating loss was also compounded by a 
deterioration in the value of its investments, with the 
$1.04m decrease reflecting market movements during 
the year. This is a turnaround of $1.8m compared to the 
$0.8m gain of the previous year.

Sundale’s decision to transfer ownership of We Rock! 
Childcare to Nambour Christian College in February 
allowed the organisation to fully focus on its core 
business - aged care.

Sizeable losses at We Rock! Childcare over the past two 
years have been replaced by rental income. 

Balance Sheet

Sundale’s reported loss should be viewed through the 
prism of the organisation’s strong balance sheet and 
cash flows.  

Removing Accommodation Payables from Current 
Liabilities, which are not expected to be payable in the 
next year, Sundale’s Net Current Assets increased by 
almost $4m to $40.75m.  

Cash and cash equivalents, and term deposits invested 
for up to 12 months both increased during the year 
despite the reported loss.  

Statement of Cashflows

Not recorded in the Profit & Loss statement is 
cash inflows (approx. $16.5m) generated from 
Accommodation Payables Proceeds, primarily from 
Retirement Communities.

This strong performance, driven by Sundale’s Executive 
Leadership team was achieved despite the adverse 
impact on the Retirement Community market in the last 
months of the financial year due to COVID-19.

Despite Sundale’s reported loss, its cashflow 
performance saw a growth in funds of $1.57m  
for the year.

Finance
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 30 June 2020                          

NOTE
2020 2019

$’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 7 7,629 6,059

Trade and other receivables 8 3,759 1,684

Inventories               206 88

Financial assets 9 49,202 48,873

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 60,796 56,704

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 8 1,023 261

Financial assets 9 41,154 41,738

Investment properties 10 29,136 29,114

Intangibles 11 2,459 3,172

Property, plant and equipment 12 86,654 82,762

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 160,426 157,047

TOTAL ASSETS 221,222 213,751

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables  13 (i) 5,159 4,726

Accommodation payables expected to be paid within 12 months 13 (ii) 8,846 9,197

Accommodation payables not expected to be paid within 12 months 13 (ii) 102,929 88,101

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 14 506 25

Provisions 15 4,984 5,122

Accrued expenses               547               677 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 122,971 107,848

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 14 1,703 1,134

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 15 1,531 -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES             3,234 1,134 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 126,205 108,982

NET ASSETS 95,017 104,769

EQUITY 

Accumulated Funds 95,017 104,769

Reserves    - -

TOTAL EQUITY 95,017 104,769

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 30 June 2020                          

NOTE
2020 2019

$’000 $’000

CONTINUING  OPERATIONS

Operational revenues 4  41,610 42,262

Accommodation bond/Licence contribution  1,998 1,659

Interest & dividend revenue 17  2,512 3,245

Other revenue  1,070 1,154

TOTAL REVENUE  47,190 48,320

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 10-12  (5,161) (5,750)

Employee costs  (40,382) (33,649)

Finance costs 17  (145) (112)

Other expenses 5  (12,529) (12,253)

Minor project costs (2,183) (2,982)

TOTAL EXPENSES  (60,400) (54,746)

Results from operating activities (13,210) (6,426)

SIGNIFICANT ITEMS

Coronavirus pandemic: Government assistance 18 6,060 -

Coronavirus pandemic: additional costs 18 (1,005) -

(Devaluation)/Revaluation of investments (1,041) 793

NET DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (9,196) (5,633)

Loss from discontinued operations 19  (553) (430)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (9,749) (6,063)

The above Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
or the year ended 30 June 2020

NOTE
Accumulated 

Funds
Total

$’000 $’000

At 1 July 2018 110,832 110,832

Surplus for the year (6,063) (6,063)

Other Comprehensive Income for the year - -

At 30 June 2019 as reported prior to adoption of AASB9 104,769 104,769

Adjustment for change in accounting policy 2(b) (3) (3)

At 1 July 2019 post adoption of AASB9 104,766 104,766

Deficit for the year (9,749) (9,749)

Other Comprehensive Income for the year - -

At 30 June 2020 95,017 95,017

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
for the year ended 30 June 2020qw

NOTE
2020 2019

$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts of subsidies and revenue from clients 46,179 43,820 

Receipt of grants and one-off funding 394 47 

Sundry income 162 388 

Payments to suppliers and employees (56,836) (50,609)

Donations 40 27 

Interest paid (145) -

Interest received 2,005 1,650 

Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities (8,201) (4,677)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (6,040) (14,202)

Net Realisation/(Acquisition) of financial assets (329) 5,061

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 89 588

Net cash used in investing activities (6,280) (8,553)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net repayments of loans 7 day call - (125)

Repayment of lease liabilities (419) -

Repayment of unsecured interest free loans (65) -

Proceeds from accommodation payables 27,871 26,106 

Repayment of accommodation payables (11,336) (11,885)

Net cash provided by financing activities 16,051 14,096

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,570 866

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,059 5,193

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF YEAR 7 7,629 6,059

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

The financial report of Sundale Ltd (the “Entity”) for the 
year ended 30 June 2020 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board on 25 September 
2020.

The Entity is a Public Company Limited by Guarantee and 
is registered as Sundale Ltd [A.C.N. 164 270 946] under the 
Corporations Act 2001.  The registered office is located at 
144 Currie St, Nambour 4560.

Sundale Ltd provides a range of services including 
supporting and caring for residential aged care clients 
(National Approved Provider System ID 461), retirement 
living communities, in-home care, housing and long- and 
short-term caravan park accommodation.

The entity is a not-for-profit entity for the purposes of 
Australian Accounting Standards.

2. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
presentation of the financial statements are set out below.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of Preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report 
which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (“AASB”) and the Aged Care Act 1997 
relating to approved providers of residential and in-home 
care as well as certain rehabilitation programmes, as well 
as relevant requirements under the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012 and as appropriate for 
not-for-profit orientated entities. The financial report has 
been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting including 
the historical cost convention, except for intangible assets 
and non-current investments.

The entity has applied the class order 98/100 and so the 
financial report is presented in thousands of Australian 
dollars or in certain cases to the nearest dollar.

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the 
basis of making the judgments about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
These accounting policies have been consistently applied 
by the Entity.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed  
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates  
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is  
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period reviewed.

Comparative information is reclassified where appropriate 
to enhance comparability.

(b) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations adopted

The entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are 
mandatory for the current reporting period.

The Entity has adopted AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-
Profit Entities from 1 July 2019.  The standard replaces 
AASB 1004 Contributions in respect to income recognition 
requirements for not-for-profit entities.  The timing of 
income recognition under AASB 1058 is dependent upon 
whether the transaction gives rise to a liability or other 
performance obligation at the time of receipt.  Income 
under the standard is recognised where: an asset is 
received in a transaction, such as by way of grant, bequest 
or donation; there has either been no consideration 
transferred, or the consideration paid is significantly less 
than the asset’s fair value; and the principal intention is to 
enable the Entity to further its objectives.  For transfers 
of financial assets to the Entity which enable it to acquire 
or construct a recognisable non-financial asset, the 
Entity must recognise a liability amounting to the excess 
of the fair value of the transfer received over any related 
amounts recognised.  Related amounts recognised may 
relate to contributions by owners, AASB 15 revenue or 
contract liability recognised, lease liabilities in accordance 
with AASB 16, financial instruments in accordance with 
AASB 9, or provisions in accordance with AASB 137.  The 
liability is brought to account as income over the period 
in which the Entity satisfies its performance obligation.  
If the transaction does not enable the Entity to acquire 
or construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be 
controlled by the Entity, then any excess of the initial 
carrying amount of the recognised asset over the related 
amounts is recognised as income immediately. revenue.  
Contracts with customers are presented in the Entity’s 
statement of financial position as a contract liability, a 
contract asset or a receivable, depending on the relationship 
between the Entity’s performance and the customer’s 
payment.  Customer acquisition costs and costs to fulfil a 
contract can, subject to certain criteria, be capitalised as an 
asset and amortised over the contract period.

Revenue not recognised under AASB 1058 is recognised 
under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
also adopted from 1 July 2019.  AASB 15 provides a 
single comprehensive model for recognition of revenue 
not covered by AASB 1058.  The core principle of the 
standard is that an entity shall recognise revenue to depict 

the transfer of promised goods or services to customers 
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services.  The standard introduced a new contract-based 
revenue recognition model with a measurement approach 
based on an allocation of the transaction price.  This is 
described further in the accounting policies below.  Credit 
risk is presented separately as an expense rather than 
adjusted against revenue.

The adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 has in neither 
case had any material impact on the Entity’s assets and 
liabilities, the only adjustment being to recognise as income 
an unconditional donation of $9,000 previously held as a 
deferred income liability to be recognised simultaneously 
with the expense it was applied to.

The Entity has adopted AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019.  
The standard replaces AASB 117 Leases and for lessees 
eliminates the classifications of operating leases and 
finance leases.  Except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets, right-of-use assets and corresponding 
lease liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial 
position.  Straight-line operating lease expense recognition 
is replaced with a depreciation charge for the right-of-
use assets (included in operating costs) and an interest 
expense on the recognised lease liabilities (included in 
finance costs).  In the earlier periods of the lease, the 
expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will 
be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 
117.  However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve as the 
operating expense is now replaced by interest expense and 
depreciation in profit or loss.  For classification within the 
statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed 
in operating activities and the principal portion of the lease 
payments are separately disclosed in financing activities.  
For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially 
change how a lessor accounts for leases.

AASB 16 was adopted using the modified retrospective 
approach and as such comparatives have not been 
restated.  The effect on opening balances was a reduction 
of Accumulated funds of $3,000, being the net difference 
between opening balances for lease liabilities and for right-
of-use assets net of accumulated depreciation.  The impact 
compared to the previous Accounting Standards on the 
current reporting period is as follows:
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(b) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations adopted (continued)

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied 
to lease liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the date of initial application is 6.13%.

The total lease liabilities of $355,000 recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position at 1 July 2019 differs from 
the minimum operating lease commitments of $751,000 
as disclosed in Note 21(b) of the previous year’s Financial 
Report for the following principal reasons: the $751,000 is 
an undiscounted figure, whereas the $355,000 represents 
expected payments discounted at the relevant incremental 
borrowing rate; the $751,000 includes both short- and 
long-term leases, whereas the $355,000 represents long-
term leases only; and the $751,000 was the minimum total 
payments under the leases, including any maintenance 
elements, whereas the $355,000 is the discounted value of 
the asset rentals only. 

Any new, revised or amended Accounting Standards or 
Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted.

(c) Capital Replacement, Maintenance Reserves and 
General Services Trust Funds

 Sundale Ltd have established Capital Replacement Fund 
(CRF) and Maintenance Reserve Fund (MRF) Trust Account 
bank accounts in accordance with Section 97 of the 
Retirement Villages Act 1999.  While the transactions of the 
MRF trusts are excluded from this financial report, the bank 
account balances relating to the CRF’s are included in the 
report under Cash and cash equivalent balance as secured 
or restricted cash (Note 7).

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the Statement of Financial 
Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with a maturity date of three months or less from 
balance date.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above and investments at call, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.

(e) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, are 
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
allowance for expected credit losses.

  Impairment 
New impairment requirements under AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments use an ‘expected credit loss’ (‘ECL’) model 
to recognise an allowance. Impairment is measured 
using a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on 
a financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method 
is adopted.  For receivables, a simplified approach 
to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime 
expected loss allowance is available and has been used.  
Bad debts are written off when identified.

(f) Property, plant and equipment and capital work in 
progress

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, or deemed 
cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Such costs include the cost of 
replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when 
the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when 
each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 
replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the assets as follows:  

Plant and Equipment less than $500 1 Year
Vehicles 3 – 5 Years
Plant and Equipment greater than $500 2 – 10 Years
Furniture and Fittings 3 – 10 Years
Buildings 10 – 40 Years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives, depreciation, 
and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each financial year end.

Capital works in progress represents (i) the accumulation 
of construction costs on facilities currently under 
construction; (ii) accumulated costs of major information 
systems infrastructure and (iii) other similar type projects. 
Upon completion, the assets are transferred into the asset 
category and depreciation commences at that time.  

$’000 $’000 $’000

PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME New Previous Difference

Other Revenue 1,070 1,066 4

Total revenue 47,190 47,186 4

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (5,161) (4,627) (534)

Finance costs (145) (72) (73)

Other expenses (12,529) (13,021) 492

Minor project costs (2,183) (2,481) 298

Total expenses (60,400) (60,583) 183

Results from operating activities (13,210) (13,397) 187

Net deficit for the year from continuing operations (9,196) (9,383) 187

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (9,749) (9,936) 187

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION New Previous Difference

Property, plant and equipment 86,654 84,458 2,196

Total non-current assets 160,426 158,230 2,196

Total assets 221,222 219,026 2,196

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (current) (506) (25) (481)

Total current liabilities (122,971) (122,490) (481)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (non-current) (1,531) - (1,531)

Total non-current liabilities (3,234) (1,703) (1,531)

Total liabilities (126,205) (124,193) (2,012)

Net assets 95,017 94,833 184

Accumulated funds 95,017 94,833 184

TOTAL EQUITY 95,017 94,833 184

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS New Previous Difference

Payments to suppliers and employees (56,836) (57,328) 492

Interest paid (145) (72) (73)

Net cash used in operating activities (8,201) (8,620) 419

Repayment of finance lease liabilities (419) - (419)

Net cash provided by financing activities 16,051 15,632 (419)
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(j)	 Employee	leave	benefits 

a)    Wages, salaries and annual leave and sick leave 

  Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and annual leave, are recognised 
in provisions in respect of employees’ services up to 
the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when liabilities are settled.  
Liabilities for sick leave as at the reporting date are not 
sufficiently material to necessitate a provision in the 
accounts.

b)   Long service leave 

  The liability for long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on high quality (AAA- and AA-rated) 
Australian corporate bonds with terms of maturity  
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows

(k) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Entity and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

a)  Government subsidies – recognised as an accrual 
based on actual resident/client classifications, with any 
adjustments required being made upon receipt of funds 
from the Government.

b)  Client contributions – fees are payable by residents  
and recognised when due.

c)  Dividend Income – recognised when the Entity’s right  
to receive payment is established. 

d)  Accommodation bond retentions– recognised  
when due.

e)  Licence Contributions – recognised on a  
contractual basis

f)  Government Grants – recognised as income at their 
fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be 
complied with.

g)  Interest – recognised as interest accrues using 
the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

h)  Investment property rental revenue – recognised on a 
straight line basis over the lease term

2.  Significant accounting policies (continued)

  Impairment 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed 
for impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable 
amount being estimated when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may  
be impaired.

  The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is 
the depreciated replacement cost of the asset when 
the asset’s future economic benefit does not depend 
primarily on its ability to generate cash inflows, and if 
deprived of the asset the organization would replace it.

   An impairment exists when the carrying value of an 
asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit  
is then written down to its recoverable amount.

(g) Right-of-use assets 

A Right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement 
date of a lease.  The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date net of any lease incentives 
received, any initial direct costs incurred and, except where 
included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs 
expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the 
underlying asset and for restoring the site or asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter.  Where the 
Entity expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the 
end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated 
useful life.  Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset 
and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with 
terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.  
Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or 
loss as incurred.

(h) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost  
and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Entity prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid and arise when the Entity becomes obliged to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods 
and services.

(i) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Entity has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of  
the obligation.

Where the Entity expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income net of any 
reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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(o) Financial Instruments

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments are classified as either financial assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, at fair value 
through Profit or Loss or at fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income, as appropriate.  Financial liabilities 
in the scope of AASB 9 are classified as financial liabilities 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets comprise investments in managed funds, 
term deposits, trade and other receivables and cash and 
cash equivalents. Financial liabilities comprise trade 
and other payables, accrued expenses, accommodation 
payables and loans. 

Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition financial instruments are measured as 
described below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
Financial assets are de-recognised if the Entity’s contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, the 
Entity has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
related to the asset or the entity no longer has control of 
the asset.  Purchases and sales of financial assets are 
accounted for at trade date, i.e. the date the Entity commits 
itself to purchase or sell the asset. A financial liability is 
de-recognised if the Entity’s obligations specified in the 
contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Accounting for finance income and expenses is described 
in Note 2 (q). 

Instruments measured at amortised cost

Except for the Entity’s investments in equity instruments, 
the financial assets listed above are held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold them in order to collect 
contractual cash flows. In addition the contractual terms of 
these financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
principal amounts outstanding. As such, they are measured 
at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are also measured at 
amortised cost. 

Instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss

The Entity’s investments in equity instruments are not held 
for trading. They are measured at fair value through profit 
or loss.

The fair value of investments is determined by reference to 
market bid prices at the close of business on the Statement 
of Financial Position date as provided by the respective 
investment managers. 

 
Other 

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any impairment losses.

(p) Lease liabilities

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date 
of a lease.  The lease liability is initially recognised at the 
present value of the lease payments to be made over the 
term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Entity’s incremental borrowing rate.  Lease payments 
comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the 
exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur and 
any anticipated termination penalties.  The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.  The carrying amounts are 
remeasured if there is a change in the following: future 
lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate 
used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase 
option and termination penalties.  When a lease liability is 
remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding 
right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.

(q) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest and dividend income on 
funds invested and is recognised as it accrues in profit or 
loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings 
including finance leases.  All borrowing costs are 
recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest rate 
method.

2.   Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Goods & Services Tax

Sundale Ltd is registered for Goods & Services Tax (GST)  
on an accruals basis. 

•  Services relating to Residential Aged Care, In-Home 
Care, Child Care, Rehabilitation Services and Retirement 
Living are primarily classified as GST Free.

•  The Rental segment comprises residential rents and 
treated accordingly for GST.  A proportion of income 
from low-cost accommodation qualifies for treatment 
as GST Free rather than Input-taxed income as a result 
of “nominal consideration” concessions for endorsed 
charities.

•  The Caravan Parks segment includes long term and 
short term stays; the former attract a concessional rate 
of GST, the latter the standard rate.

•  Goods and services such as externally contracted 
laundry and other similar services are subject to GST 
and levied accordingly.  

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows 
on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
is classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed net of GST.

(m) Income Tax

As the company is a charitable institution in terms of 
subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 
as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

(n) Intangible Assets 

The Entity holds Residential Care Government funded bed 
licences that meet the definition of an intangible asset 
under AASB 138 Intangible Assets.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 
either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets currently held by 
the Entity have been assessed as being finite.

The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life 
is reviewed each reporting period to determine whether the 
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.  
If not, the change in the useful life assessment from 
indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an 
accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a 
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are tested for impairment annually. Such intangibles 
are not amortised.  

The bed licences are granted to the Entity on acquisition 
for no or nominal consideration by government agencies 
or authorities. The licences represent a contribution under 
AASB 1004 Contributions so that the Entity must recognise 
both the licence and the corresponding grant income 
amount initially at the fair value of the licence as at the date 
the licence was granted. The fair value is treated as the 
licence’s deemed cost at the acquisition date.

The valuations were reassessed in 2017 and it was 
determined that the assets had become finite in the light 
of the “Aged Care Roadmap” issued by the Department 
of Health, which outlines a timetable for the transfer of 
the licences, and the freedom to choose a provider, to the 
consumer. The assets are being amortised on a straight-line 
basis over seven years from 2017, covering the period until 
the Roadmap indicates that this reform will occur.

Any gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset and are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income when the asset is de-recognised.
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4.  Operational Revenues

NOTE
2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Government Subsidies 25,502 25,873

Client Contributions 12,463 12,748

Rental Revenues 3,376 3,304

Sundry Operating Revenue 269 337

TOTAL REVENUE 41,610 42,262

2.   Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Capital Management

Management considers their retained earnings as capital.  
Management controls the capital of the Entity in order to 
ensure that the Entity can fund its operations and continue 
as a going concern. The Entity is not subject to any external 
capital restrictions.

(s) Investment Properties

Investment properties principally comprise of buildings 
held for long-term rental and capital appreciation that 
are not occupied by the entity. Investment properties 
are recognised at cost, including transaction costs, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Investment properties are derecognised when disposed of 
or when there is no future economic benefit expected.

Reclassifications between investment properties and 
property, plant and equipment are determined by a change 
in use to owner-occupation. The existing carrying amount 
of property, plant and equipment is used for the subsequent 
accounting cost of investment properties on date of  
change of use.

Investment properties also include properties under 
construction for future use as investment properties. These 
are carried at cost. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-
line basis to write off the net cost of each investment 
property building over its expected useful life.

3. Working capital deficiency 

As at 30 June 2020 the financial statements disclose 
prima facie a deficiency in working capital, being excess 
of current liabilities over current assets of $62,175,000 
(2019: deficiency $51,144,000).  This may indicate to the 
users that the Entity may have difficulty in paying its debts 
as and when they become payable.  The Directors do not 
believe that the Entity will have difficulty in paying its debts 
as and when they become payable based on the following 
reasoning.

The probable timing for the payment of current liabilities 
will allow the Entity to trade normally, particularly given 
that Accommodation Payables of $102,929,000, although 
classed as current in accordance with accounting 
standards, is not practically payable to the residents 
within 12 months.  The resident Licence Contributions 
are not required to be paid out to the outgoing resident 
until the incoming residents have paid their Licence 
Contribution to the Entity (except in the rare event of the 
accommodation having been vacant for 18 months).  The 
Refundable Accommodation Deposits/Bonds become 
payable upon the departure of aged care residents.  It 
is unlikely that all residents would depart in the next 12 
months thereby requiring a pay-out of the full amount of the 
Accommodation Deposits/Bonds.  Historically, the average 
turnover of the residents (Aged Care and Independent 
Living Units) has been around 20%.  Vacant aged care 
beds are generally refilled within a short time.  Therefore 
management’s worst case estimate, supported by historical 
cash flows over the last five years, of the amount likely to be 
payable within the next 12 months is $8,846,000.

5.  Other expenses

NOTE
2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Impairment of trade receivables 2 (e) 37 8

Administrative costs 5 (i) 5,113 5,611

Meal costs 1,801 1,640

Repairs and maintenance costs 977 1,055

Office equipment - minimum operating lease payments 120 160

Medical costs 1,848 1,288

Energy costs 941 948

Housekeeping costs 672 616

Vehicle fleet costs 245 285

Vehicle fleet - minimum operating lease payments 104 130

Clothing costs 153 205

Investment management fees 288 184

Other sundry expenses 287 182

Less hospitality and maintenance costs internally on-charged to discontinued 
operations

(57) (59)

TOTAL OTHER OPERATIONAL EXPENSES 12,529 12,253

5 (i).  Administrative costs

Rates and charges 1,329 1,272

Insurances 310 267

Recruitment costs 180 157

Software and licences 1,139 902

Management fees 399 540

Telephone 748 731

Security 469 396

Legal fees 146 727

Other 463 773

Less: expenses internally on-charged to discontinued operations (70) (154)

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 5,113 5,611
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6.  Operating segments

The composition of operating segments is based on the 
internal reporting and assessment of various components 
of the Entity that are regularly reviewed by key management 
personnel (who are identified as the Chief Operating 
Decision-makers), evaluating the results of these business 
segments for comparison to other entities, for strategic 
planning and for the allocation of resources.

The Entity operates in one geographical segment, being 
the Queensland area, and has six reportable segments, as 
described below, which are the Entity’s strategic business 
units.  Each segment provides a service to a different 
consumer demographic and is managed separately as they 
require different marketing and operational strategies:

• Residential Aged Care provides services and care to the 
elderly within a residential based environment providing 
accommodation and a range of care from modest to 
substantial assistance for multiple morbidities.  

• Retirement Living provides an environment for 
independent living in a communal setting with care and 
support services readily available if required.

• In-Home Care provides in-home services and care to the 
community across a broad spectrum of care levels.

• Investment Properties provides a range of residential 
rental properties and units, of which 29 are currently 
available under the National Rental Affordability Scheme 
(NRAS), as well as a small number of commercial 
tenancies.

• Caravan Parks provides a combination of long-term low-
cost and short-term tourist accommodation.

• Child Care, covering long day care in addition to outside 
school hours and vacation care.  The operation of this 
business was divested in February 2020 (see Note 19) since 
when the Entity merely acts as landlord of the premises.

Other segments relate to rehabilitation services (ceased 
in March 2020), corporate administrative and information 
services and support services of catering, laundering 
and maintenance.  These segments operate as full cost 
recovery passed to the operating segments.  

Transfer prices between business segments are set at 
an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions 
with third parties.  Segment revenue, segment expense 
and segment result include transfers between business 
segments.  Those transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

The following tables present revenue and surplus 
information and certain asset and liability information 
regarding business segments for the years ended 30 June 
2020 and 30 June 2019. 
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Residential Aged Care Retirement Living In-Home Care
Investment 
Properties

Caravan Parks Child Care All Others Total

6.  Operating segments (continued)
NOTE

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

6.1   Reportable segment result

   Segment Revenues 6.2 38,217 33,925 3,186 2,753 3,220 3,330 1,191 1,211 2,684 2,572 344 517 14,552 17,328 63,394 61,636

   Segment Expenses 6.3 (44,876) (40,179) (3,521) (3,775) (3,185) (3,259) (1,017) (877) (2,118) (2,029) (897) (947) (17,529) (16,633) (73,143) (67,699)

Segment surplus/(deficit) (6,659) (6,254) (335) (1,022) 35 71 174 334 566 543 (553) (430) (2,977) 695 (9,749) (6,063)

6.2   Revenues

Government Subsidy and Payments 24,588 24,842 - - 302 322 327 330 - - 243 343 285 380 25,745 26,217

Client Contributions 8,687 8,607 1,237 1,140 2,539 3,000 - - - - 125 168 - - 12,588 12,915

Other Income 543 403 26 27 - 8 854 881 2,633 2,572 (24) 6 659 904 4,691 4,801

External revenues 33,818 33,852 1,263 1,167 2,841 3,330 1,181 1,211 2,633 2,572 344 517 944 1,284 43,024 43,933

Accommodation Payables Revenues 75 73 1,923 1,586 - - - - - - - - - - 1,998 1,659

Interest and Dividend Income - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,512 3,245 2,512 3,245

Total operating revenue per Statement of 
Profit or Loss

33,893 33,925 3,186 2,753 2,841 3,330 1,181 1,211 2,633 2,572 344 517 3,456 4,529 47,534 48,837

Coronavirus pandemic: Government 
assistance

4,324 - - - 379 - 10 - 51 - - - 1,296 - 6,060 -

(De-) / Re-valuation of Investments - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,041) 793 (1,041) 793

Total segment external revenue 38,217 33,925 3,186 2,753 3,220 3,330 1,191 1,211 2,684 2,572 344 517 3,711 5,322 52,553 49,630

Inter-segment revenue - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,841 12,006 10,841 12,006

Total segment revenues 38,217 33,925 3,186 2,753 3,220 3,330 1,191 1,211 2,684 2,572 344 517 14,552 17,328 63,394 61,636
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Residential Aged Care Retirement Living In-Home Care
Investment 
Properties

Caravan Parks Child Care All Others Total

6.  Operating segments (continued)
NOTE

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

6.3   Expenses

Staffing Costs (27,384) (21,062) (332) (159) (2,027) (2,303) (61) (22) (176) (33) (675) (607) (10,402) (10,070) (41,057) (34,256)

Depreciation and Impairment Costs (1,778) (2,907) (1,538) (1,508) (141) (33) (354) (294) (338) (333) (40) (55) (1,012) (675) (5,201) (5,805)

Administration Costs 6.3.1 (7,379) (5,845) (785) (785) (708) (614) (403) (365) (1,023) (1,134) (94) (188) (2,340) (2,758) (12,732) (11,689)

Hospitality Costs (2,587) (3,306) - - (3) - - - - - (50) (43) (812) (811) (3,452) (4,160)

Housekeeping Costs (810) (999) (21) (21) (1) - (5) (4) (104) (99) (3) (4) (231) (151) (1,175) (1,278)

Repairs and Maintenance Costs (749) (1,240) (331) (448) (9) (9) (135) (111) (246) (129) (17) (27) (37) (119) (1,524) (2,083)

Medical Costs (2,546) (3,275) - - (20) (69) - - - - (1) (2) (67) (36) (2,634) (3,382)

Energy Costs (550) (542) (72) (77) (5) - 3 11 (145) (151) (2) (4) (172) (189) (943) (952)

Vehicle Fleet Cost (38) (59) - - (152) (215) - - (10) (6) (3) (13) (149) (134) (352) (427)

Other Sundry Expenses (102) (78) (105) (75) (11) (8) - - (22) (3) - (4) (53) (125) (293) (293)

Operations Expense total (43,923) (39,313) (3,184) (3,073) (3,077) (3,251) (955) (785) (2,064) (1,888) (885) (947) (15,275) (15,068) (69,363) (64,325)

Non-Operational & Development 
Expenditure

(160) (754) (336) (702) 2 (8) (61) (92) (48) (141) (12) - (2,015) (1,565) (2,630) (3,262)

Interest paid (73) (112) - - (8) - - - - - - - (64) - (145) (112)

Exceptional Item: Coronavirus pandemic 
costs

(720) - (1) - (102) - (1) - (6) - - - (175) - (1,005) -

TOTAL SEGMENT EXPENSE (44,876) (40,179) (3,521) (3,775) (3,185) (3,259) (1,017) (877) (2,118) (2,029) (897) (947) (17,529) (16,633) (73,143) (67,699)

Add Back Internal Charges 8,967 10,001 533 637 620 556 189 146 370 339 127 213 35 114 10,841 12,006

720 - 1 - 102 - 1 - 6 - - - 175 - 1,005 -

TOTAL EXPENSE FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES PER STATEMENT OF PROFIT 
OR LOSS

(35,189) (30,178) (2,987) (3,138) (2,463) (2,703) (827) (731) (1,742) (1,690) (770) (734) (17,319) (16,519) (61,297) (55,693)

6.3.1 Administration Costs:

Management Fee (2,605) (2,399) (260) (254) (233) (221) (197) (187) (627) (736) (59) (100) - - (3,981) (3,897)

Rates and Charges (296) (280) (320) (317) (1) (1) (184) (163) (270) (264) - - (258) (246) (1,329) (1,271)

Insurances (106) (98) (87) (69) (21) (18) (14) (11) (19) (16) (6) (8) (63) (55) (316) (275)

Information Technology (1,982) (1,520) - - (251) (186) (2) - (85) (67) (12) (33) (1,112) (965) (3,444) (2,771)

Accreditation Costs (1,328) (398) - - (161) (66) - - - (9) - (12) 2 - (1,487) (485)

Telephony (189) (212) (2) (1) (25) (39) (2) (1) (22) (24) (2) (4) (508) (453) (750) (734)

Training and Recruitment (45) (222) - - (3) (45) - (1) (1) (1) (3) (15) (169) (207) (221) (491)

Other (828) (716) (116) (144) (13) (38) (4) (2) 1 (17) (12) (16) (232) (832) (1,204) (1,765)

(7,379) (5,845) (785) (785) (708) (614) (403) (365) (1,023) (1,134) (94) (188) (2,340) (2,758) (12,732) (11,689)
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Residential Aged Care Retirement Living In-Home Care
Investment 
Properties

Caravan Parks Child Care All Others Total

6.  Operating segments (continued)
NOTE

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

6.4  Reportable segment assets:

Property Plant and Equipment 14,612 14,160 42,481 41,950 252 115 92 83 137 132 - 722 29,080 25,600 86,654 82,762

Investment Properties - - - - - - 15,687 15,365 13,449 13,749 - - - - 29,136 29,114

Intangibles 2,459 3,172 - - - - - - - - - - - 2,459 3,172

6.5  Reportable segment Liabilities:

Accommodation payables 34,788 32,137 76,987 65,161 - - - - - - - - - - 111,775 97,298

6.6   Segment acquisitions 1,524 978 2,069 1,217 174 103 20 43 42 79 - 109 4,318 11,434 8,147 13,963
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7.2.  Secured capital replacement funds

The Secured Capital Replacement Fund bank accounts are secured by way of a statutory charge created pursuant to Section 
91(6) of the Retirement Villages Act 1999.

2020 2019

Account Balances at 30 June $’000 $’000

- Fund for Palmwoods Retirement Community 60 43

- Fund for Rotary Retirement Community 29 149

- Fund for Nambour Retirement Community 109 110

- Fund for Coolum Beach Retirement Community 317 377

515 679

The Retirement Villages Act 1999 prescribes the uses of the Capital Replacement Funds.

 

8.   Trade and other receivables
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Current

Trade and Other Debtors 321 301

Resident Debtors 70 823

Less Provision for Doubtful Debts / Expected Credit Losses (142) (186)

249 938

Accrued Income 3,098 404

BAS Tax Refundable 219 215

Other Prepayments 193 127

3,759 1,684

Non-current 

Resident Debtors Account 1,023 261

1,023 261

7.  Cash and cash equivalents
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Operating/Trading bank accounts 7,102 5,370

Secured Capital Replacement Fund 7.2 515 679

Petty Cash & Cash on Hand 12 10

7,629 6,059

Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following at 30 June:

Cash on Hand and at Bank 7,629 6,059

7,629 6,059

Non-cash financing and investing activities

Bank guarantees

  -  amount used 600 600

  -  amount unused 250 250

850 850

 

7.1.  Trust Account Balances

The following amounts held in Trust Accounts and equal to the amounts held on behalf of trust creditors are not  
included in the assets or liabilities of Sundale Ltd as set out in the Statement of Financial Position:

2020 2019

Account Balances at 30 June $’000 $’000

Resident Trust Bank Account and Cash Float 43 46

Funds held in Trust ex Eden Healthcare Centre Inc. 150 150

Palmwoods Retirement Community Maintenance Reserve Fund Trust Account 207 175

Rotary Retirement Community Maintenance Reserve Fund Trust Account 220 196

Nambour Retirement Community Maintenance Reserve Fund Trust Account 4 23

Coolum Beach Retirement Community Maintenance Reserve Fund Trust Account 144 271
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10.   Investment Properties 
Movement schedule

Land Buildings
Under 

Construction
Totals

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2018, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

15,591 14,099 - 29,690

Additions - 9 - 9

Depreciation  charge for the year - (585) - (585)

At 30 June 2019, net of accumulated depreciation  
and impairment 

15,591 13,523 - 29,114

At 1 July 2019, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

15,591 13,523 - 29,114

Additions - - - -

Reclassify from Property, Plant & Equipment - 629 - 629

Depreciation charge for the year - (607) - (607)

At 30 June 2020, net of accumulated depreciation  
and impairment 

15,591 13,545 - 29,136

At 30 June 2019

Cost 15,591 17,685 - 33,276

Accumulated depreciation and impairments - (4,162) - (4,162)

Net book value at 30 June 2019 15,591 13,523 - 29,114

At 30 June 2020

Cost 15,591 18,314 - 33,905

Accumulated depreciation and impairments - (4,769) - (4,769)

Net book value at 30 June 2020 15,591 13,545 - 29,136

9.  Financial assets
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Current  

Measured at amortised cost

- maturity within 90 days 12,492 21,088

- maturity greater than 90 days 36,710 27,785

49,202 48,873

Current financial assets are on deposit for varying terms of up to one year and terminable on notice (subject to an 
administration fee and/or interest rate reduction), with an effective interest rate during 2019-20 between 0.80% and 
2.60% (2019: 2.08% - 2.68%)

Non-current

Measured at fair value through profit or loss

Harper Bernays managed funds 41,154 41,738

41,154 41,738

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are not held for trading and have no specified maturity 
date.  Funds are available in accordance with the terms of the respective managed investment service agreements.
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12.  Property, plant 
and equipment

Freehold 
Land Buildings Plant and 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicles 

Furniture 
and 

Fittings

Low 
Value 

Assets

Right-of-
use Plant & 
Equipment

Right-of-
use Motor 
Vehicles

Right-
of-use 

Buildings

Under 
Construction Totals

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2019, net 
of accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment 

18,513 41,404 3,002 427 441 - - - - 18,975 82,762

Recognised on 
adoption of AASB16 
Leases

- - - - - - 249 104 - - 353

Additions - 940 1,127 - 418 147 17 364 1,996 3,138 8,147

Disposals/Transfers - - (29) (69) - - - - - - (98)

Impairments (43) (54) (6) (1) (2) - - - - (106)

Reclassify to 
Investment 
Property

- (629) - - - - - - - (629)

Depreciation  
charge for the year 

- (2,066) (763) (149) (116) (147) (59) (142) (333) - (3,775)

At 30 June 2020, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment 

18,470 39,595 3,331 208 741 - 207 326 1,663 22,113 86,654

At 30 June 2019

Cost 18,513 77,114 8,418 1,309 1,462 809 - - - 18,975 126,600

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairments

- (35,710) (5,416) (882) (1,021) (809) - - - - (43,838)

Net book value 18,513 41,404 3,002 427 441 - - - - 18,975 82,762

At 30 June 2020

Cost 18,513 75,828 9,456 1,093 1,849 943 294 489 1,996 22,113 132,574

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairments

(43) (36,233) (6,125) (885) (1,108) (943) (87) (163) (333) - (45,920)

Net book value 18,470 39,595 3,331 208 741 - 207 326 1,663 22,113 86,654

10.1  Lessor commitments
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments receivable but not recognised in the financial statements:

     Not later than 1 year 491 368

     Later than one year and not later than 5 years 131 -

622 368

The Entity’s main source of rental income is derived from operation of low-cost accommodation in an apartment block and 
across its three caravan parks.  A motel complex is also utilised for low-cost accommodation and the Entity leases a small 
number of houses on land held for future development.  Commercial lease income is derived from Childcare premises and 
an office building (both from February 2020).

11.  Intangibles
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Residential Aged Care Bed Licences

     At 1 July 3,172 5,075

     Amortisation (713) (1,109)

     Impairment - (794)

     At 30 June 2,459 3,172

Residential Aged Care Bed Licences

The Directors have reviewed any necessity for impairment annually having due regard to any sales within the region and 
foreseeable changes in the regulatory environment.  Subsequent to a review conducted in 2017 it was determined that the 
assets had become finite in the light of the “Aged Care Roadmap” issued by the Department of Health, which outlines a 
timetable for the transfer of the licences and the freedom to choose a provider to the consumer.  Accordingly a decision was 
made to amortise the value of the licences on a straight-line basis over seven years, covering the period until the Roadmap 
indicates that this reform will occur.  

During the financial year an impairment assessment of each Care Centre was undertaken, resulting in no impairment of the 
licences (2019: $794k) in addition to the ongoing amortisation.
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Accommodation Payables expected to be paid in 12 months is the average of payments made during the current and 
preceding three years.

Pre 1992 Agreements relate to Retirement Village residents and are carried at the principal amount. An accumulated 
diminution account records the reduction in principal. An additional liability payable to the outgoing resident arises on the 
changeover of the unit. The amount payable is 50% of the difference between the licence contribution paid by the incoming 
resident, and the Interest Free Loan of the exiting resident, less any unit refurbishment costs. Resident Interest Free Loans 
comprise a gift /donation component, which was taken to account as income over a period of five years from the agreed 
date of occupancy as stated in the resident agreement. The balance of the loan is refunded to the resident in accordance 
with contractual obligations.  

Post 1992 Resident Licence Contributions relate to Retirement Village residents and are carried at the principal amount.  
No interest is due and payable as per the terms of the Residency Agreement. An accumulated diminution account records 
the reduction in principal, with the net licence contribution refundable to the resident, reducing on an annual basis on a sliding 
scale as stated in the resident agreement. The balance of the licence contribution is refunded to the resident in accordance 
with contractual obligations.  

Accommodation Bonds reduce progressively over a period of five years in accordance with Division 57 of the Aged Care Act 
1997. The Accommodation Bond is refunded to the Resident within a maximum of 14 days from termination of agreements.

Refundable Accommodation Deposits (RADs) replaced Accommodation Bonds from 1 July 2014; diminution occurs only if 
there is a balance of the accommodation price to be covered by Daily Accommodation Payments and the resident has opted 
to pay these by drawing down on the lump sum. RADs are refundable on termination of agreements.

13.  Trade and other payables
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

13. (i) Trade and other payables

Current

Accrued Expenses 314 350

Income Received in Advance 1,600 1,259

Retentions held on WIP contracts 278 270

Accrued Payroll Account 1,585 924

Trade Creditors 1,382 1,923

5,159 4,726

Trade Payables are normally settled between 7 and 30 days.

13. (ii)  Accommodation payables

Pre 1992 Agreements (Pre ’92) 75 150

Accumulated Diminution (11) (21)

64 129

Resident Licence Contribution 88,760 76,504

Accumulated Diminution (12,134) (11,722)

76,626 64,782

Provsn. against gains on disposals of Retmt. Living accommodation 266 211

Retirement Living Right to Occupy Impairment Provision 31 39

297 250

Accommodation Bonds and Refundable Accommodation Deposits 35,323 32,812

Accumulated Retentions / Drawn-down Accommodation Payments (535) (675)

34,788 32,137

Total accommodation payables 111,775 97,298

Allocation of Accommodation Payables:

Payables expected to be paid in 12 months 8,846 9,197

Payables not expected to be paid in 12 months 102,929 88,101

111,775 97,298
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14.  Provisions 
Long 

Service 
Leave 

Annual 
Leave

 Minor 
Projects

Self 
Insurance

Legal 
Costs

Totals

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2019 1,584 2,112 358 1,875 327 6,256

Raised during the year 532 2,823 2,222 724 17 6,318 

Unused amounts reversed (181) - - (20) - (201) 

Used/Released (268) (2,346) (2,486) (494) (92) (5,686)

At 30 June 2020 1,667 2,589 94 2,085 252 6,687 

 

Current  2020 789 2,589 94 1,260 252 4,984 

Non-current  2020 878 -                  - 825 - 1,703 

1,667 2,589 94 2,085 252 6,687 

Current  2019 867 2,112 358 1,458 327 5,122

Non-current  2019 717 - - 417 - 1,134

1,584 2,112 358 1,875 327 6,256

The self-insurance provision relates to claims under the 
employee insurance scheme of which Sundale is a member; 
the outflows of these provisions are of uncertain timing and 
amount due to the many factors involved such as response 
to treatment and outcome of common law claims. An 
actuary reports annually on the scheme’s performance and 
outlook and provides an estimate of the portion of provision 
likely to be used within the next 12 months, and the split 
between current and non-current elements of the provision 
shown in the table has been derived from the most recent 
report.  $277k (2019: $247k) of the total provision relates to 
statutory claims as estimated by the actuary; the balance 
is management’s estimate of common law claims liability 
based upon the actuary’s report and assessment of current 
cases.

The minor projects provision relates to costs which have 
been incurred but not invoiced as at 30 June 2020.

The provision for legal costs relates to a claim against the 
Entity which is at an advanced stage; the provision shown 
is the estimated liability including professional costs and 
was reviewed in July 2020, with no indication then or since 
that the likely final outcome necessitates any change in that 
estimate.

15.   Interest bearing loans and borrowings 

NOTE
2020 2019

$ $

Current

Loans from residents 25 25

Lease liabilities 481 -

Total current 506 25

Non-current

Lease liabilities 1,531 -

Total non-current 1,531 -

Total loans and borrowings 2,037 25

The entity leases motor vehicles, mainly for provision of In-home Care services, for periods of two to four years.  Options 
to extend these leases are rarely exercised.  Printer/photocopier equipment is leased on an agreement with a term of 52 
months; this agreement replaced a 60-month agreement during the course of the year, with the revised term set so as to 
leave the expiry date unchanged.  On 1 July 2019 the Entity entered a lease to occupy a Head Office building for a period of 
three years, with an option to extend for a further three years.  The lease liability and right-of-use asset for this lease have 
been set up based on an assumption that the extension will be taken up.

On adoption of AASB16 from 1 July 2019, the Entity applied the provisions of paragraph 6 of the Standard and continued to 
recognise the following lease expenses as short-term leases, within Other expenses on the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income:

        $’000
Premises rented on short-term leases     63
Motor vehicles rented on short term leases     92
Leased low-value electronic equipment     32
Total       187

16.   Related parties 

The Directors of the Board during the financial year were: 

 Mr J Woodward (Chairman)
 Mr T Wainwright (Deputy Chairman)
 Ms C Perren (Treasurer)
 Mr P Clark (resigned 31st December 2019)
 Ms A Phillips
 Mr W Roberts (resigned 25th February 2020)
 Mr I Hall (appointed 26th November 2019)
 Mr S Telburn (appointed 4th December 2019)
 Ms S Walters (appointed 4th December 2019)

There were no transactions with Directors or parties related to Directors during the course of the financial year ended 30 
June 2020 except for payment of remuneration and reimbursement of expenses.  
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The compensation paid to directors and key management personnel is as 
follows: NOTE

2020 2019

$ $

Aggregate Compensation 1,697,719 1,391,472

 

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel:

There were no transactions with other related parties that 
needed to be disclosed in the financial statements in the 
current or in the previous financial year.

NOTE
2020 2019

17. Finance income and expense $’000 $’000

Recognised in profit or loss

Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost 840 1,242

Interest and dividend income on financial assets measured at fair value 1,622 1,929

Interest income on outstanding accommodation receivables 17 9

Interest income on bank accounts 33 65

Finance income 2,512 3,245

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: resident 
accommodation payables

(72) (112)

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: lease liabilities (73) -

Finance expense (145) (112)

Net finance income and expense 2,367 3,133

18.  Impact of Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic

As the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has developed the Entity’s main response has been to manage the risks which 
the situation creates (work which includes financial and operational modelling of varying severity-level impacts), maximise 
preparedness for any outbreak and ensure that full advantage is taken of available financial support to meet the costs of 
such work.  On the ground extra resource has been brought in primarily to manage the increased restrictions on visitations 
etc. and to maintain residents’ quality of life in the face of such restrictions.

The income of $6,060,000 and costs of $1,005,000 directly attributable to this event have been shown in the Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income under Significant Items and are made up as follows:

  $000

JobKeeper (JK) payment receivable due to reduction in turnover 5,581 

Federal Government Covid-19 support payment 377 

Commonwealth Govt. Continuity of Workforce Supply payments 87 

Commonwealth Govt. temporary increase in Viability Supplement 15 

Total Government assistance 6,060 

JK top-up payments to staff as required under JK scheme (549)

Spend with suppliers (mainly Personal Protective Equipment,  
lifestyle enhancement technology, communications and  
other professional assistance) (325)

Additional rostered staffing hours (131)

Total additional direct costs (1,005)

Net identifiable impact 5,055 

The bulk of these sums are included in the Statement of Cash Flows as Operating inflows/outflows, the only material 
difference from the net impact shown above being $2,207,000 accrued for JobKeeper income for June net of top-up wage 
payments estimated for the period from last pay fortnight to the reporting date.

Phase 1 of the JobKeeper scheme ends in late September and qualification for Phase 2 will depend on actual turnover for 
the July-September 2020 quarter.  As the relevant turnover figure includes the Entity’s large and highly variable receipts of 
accommodation lump sums it is impossible to predict the likelihood of the Entity’s eligibility for Phase 2.  A second round of 
Covid-19 support payments will be made in October.  Continuity of Workforce Supply payments ceased after 31 August.  The 
increase in Viability Supplement is to continue until at least 28 February 2021.
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18.  Discontinued operations

In February 2020 operation of the WeRock! Childcare centre was transferred to Nambour Christian College, with the Entity 
continuing to own the premises as lessor. The net result from the Childcare operation, incorporating costs related to 
divestment, is shown in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and is made up as follows:

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Operational revenues 368 511

Other revenue (24) 6

Total revenue 344 517

Employee costs (675) (607)

Other operational costs (170) (285)

Depreciation and impairment (40) (55)

Minor project costs (12) -

Total Expenses (897) (947)

Net result from operation (553) (430)

Cash flows from the discontinued operation were as follows:

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Operating (533) (414)

Investing - (106)

Financing - -

Net	cash	outflows (533) (520)

20.  Contingent assets and liabilities

Other than the legal matters discussed under Note 14 above, there are no material contingent liabilities not elsewhere 
reported in this annual financial report; the same was true for the 2018-19 report.

21.  Events after the reporting period

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance since the end of the financial year that has not been otherwise 
dealt with in the report or financial statements and that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the Entity’s 
operations, the results of those operations or the Entity’s state of affairs in future.

21.  Commitments
NOTE

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

(a) Capital expenditure commitments 
Estimated Capital Expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not provided for or payable:

Under construction

- Not later than 1 year 294 821

- Later than one year and not later than 5 years - -

294 821

Plant and Equipment

- Not later than 1 year 331 113

- Later than one year and not later than 5 years - -

331 113

(b) Lease expenditure commitments 

Operating Leases

- Not later than 1 year - 238

- Later than one year and not later than 5 years - 514

- 752

Rental agreements entered into relating to premises rented for laundry operations, various office equipment and In-Home 
Care service vehicles, having a rental period of not greater than five years.  At 1 July 2019 these leases were capitalised in line 
with AASB16.
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SUNDALE LTD – DIRECTORS DECLARATION  
For the year ended 30June 2020

The directors of Sundale Ltd declare that in the directors’ opinion:

 

1.  The financial statements, comprising the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,  
statement of financial position, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes,  
are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and:

 a.   Comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Australian  
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013 (ACNC Regulation 2013); and

 b.   give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance  
for the year ended on that date.

2.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay all of its debts as and when  
they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the ACNC Regulation 2013 on behalf of the directors by:

 

  

                               

John Woodward      25 September 2020                      

CHAIRPERSON 
Sundale Ltd

Australian Business Number  33 436 160 489
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